Studies of geological properties and conditions for deep disposal of radioactive waste, Denmark. Phase 1, report no. 3

Upper Cretaceous chalk and Paleocene limestone distribution and properties

Peter R. Jakobsen, Peter Frykman & Rasmus Jakobsen



Studies of geological properties and conditions for deep disposal of radioactive waste, Denmark Phase 1, report no. 3

Upper Cretaceous chalk and Paleocene limestone distribution and properties

Peter R. Jakobsen, Peter Frykman & Rasmus Jakobsen



Preface

The present report is a contribution to a major geological project with the purpose to investigate whether suitable geological sites for a deep repository for the Danish radioactive waste can be identified. The Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland (GEUS) has been given the task to identify, map, and characterize formations of low permeable rocks occurring with continuous lateral extension at 500 meters depth with thicknesses of 100 meters or more. This report is part of a series of ten reports presenting the results of the first phase of the project, which is carried out mainly as a desk study.

The geological characterisation and evaluation will provide the geological basis for the selection of two sites where, during the second phase of the geological project, detailed geological site investigations will be carried out. These two sites will be selected through a process of information sharing and dialogue between the Ministry of Higher Education and Science (MHES) and the local municipalities. The new geological data generated in the project's second phase will be used as input to a safety case when a disposal solution has been developed by the Danish Decommissioning (DD). The safety case must demonstrate that the geological properties in combination with the engineered barriers of the repository can provide the required safety for disposal on both short and long term.

In a preceding feasibility study, it was concluded that at 500 meters depth potential host rocks occur in claystones in the Jurassic and Lower Cretaceous sections, in Upper Cretaceous chalk and marl, and in Precambrian crystalline basement rocks. In this phase of the geological project, the geological properties and subsurface conditions related to these stratigraphic intervals and rock types are reviewed, and the potential host rocks' capability to retard radionuclides is investigated by conceptual 1D numerical modelling. In addition, natural processes potentially influencing short and long-term stability are identified and described.

Information gathered in the geological reports no. 2-8 forms the basis for a subdivision of Denmark into 11 areas where each area is characterized by the potential host rock type occurring at 500 meters depth, the barrier rocks in overlying sections, and the structural framework. The areas are defined to enable characterization and evaluation of the Danish subsurface at depths to 500 meters. The evaluation is based on requirements and criteria for deep geological disposal, which are defined based on international experience and recommendations. Each area is characterized and evaluated with regards to whether the geological properties and conditions are favourable for deep disposal of the Danish radioactive waste. The results of the project's first phase are presented in the following ten geological reports:

- 1. Requirements and criteria for initial evaluation of geological properties and conditions
- 2. Geological setting and structural framework of Danish onshore areas
- 3. Upper Cretaceous Paleocene chalk, limestone and marl distribution and properties
- 4. Jurassic and Lower Cretaceous claystone distribution, sedimentology, and properties
- 5. Precambrian crystalline basement distribution and properties
- 6. Subsurface distribution of Jurassic and Cretaceous fine-grained formations based on seismic mapping
- 7. Evaluation of long-term stability related to glaciations, climate and sea level, groundwater, and earthquakes
- 8. Conceptual 1D modelling of nuclide transport in low permeable formations
- 9. Karakterisering og evaluering af geologiske egenskaber og forhold i 500 meters dybde (In Danish)
- 10. Characterisation and evaluation of geological properties and conditions at 500 meters depth (This report is an English translation of report no. 9, to be published late 2022)

This report is Report no. 3. It presents the existing knowledge about the geological properties and the subsurface distribution of the Upper Cretaceous and Paleocene chalk, marl, and limestones sedimentary deposits constituting the Chalk Group.

Table of contents

0.		Dansk sammendrag (In Danish)	6
1.		Introduction	11
	1.1 1.2	Guidelines for identification of deep geological repository sites The deep geological repository project	11 12
2.		Geological setting	14
3.		Lithology and Stratigraphy of the chalk package	19
	3.1 3.2	Cretaceous chalk Danian limestone	19 22
4.		Diagenesis and strength of marl and limestone	26
	4.1	Induration	27
	4.2	Rock strength	27
	4.3	The marl	28
5.		Faults and fractures	34
	5.1	Faults	34
	5.2	Fractures	36
	5.3	General observations on fractures	40
6.		Hydraulic characterization of the chalk/limestone	41
	6.1	Hydraulic conditions in the chalk/limestone package	41
	6.2	Regional variation in hydraulic properties	44
	6.3	Transmissivity in the upper 50–100 meters of chalk	44
	6.4	Petrophysical properties of the chalk/limestone package	45
	0.5 6 5 1	Data availability	40 46
	652	Hydraulic properties (matrix and fractures) of the chalk	40 50
	653	Investigations in the Greater Copenhagen area	
	6.5.4	Hydraulic parameters from deep well tests on Mors, North Jylland	52
	6.5.5	Conclusions on the Erslev study on hydraulic parameters in chalk	54
	6.6	Conductivity interpreted from the freshwater/saltwater interface	54
	6.6.1	Other studies	57
	6.6.2	Examples on flow in U.K. chalk formations	57
	6.6.3	Permeability in chalk oil/gas fields in the North Sea	57
	6.7	Porosity and permeability depth trends	58
7.		Transport of radionuclides in chalk	61
8.		Summary	63
9.		References	65
4			GEUS

9.1	Literature from the project on deep geological disposal	71
9.2	Literature from previous projects on the Danish radioactive waste	72
9.3	Other publications	74

0. Dansk sammendrag (In Danish)

I 2018 vedtog Folketinget, at en langsigtet løsning for håndtering af Danmarks radioaktive affald skal indeholde lokalisering for et muligt dybt geologisk slutdepot, som kan tages i brug senest i 2073 (Folketingets beslutning B90; Danish Parliament, 2018). Det radioaktive affald består af cirka 10.000 m³ lavradioaktivt affald og mindre mængder af mellemradioaktivt affald, inklusiv 233 kg særligt affald, men intet højradioaktivt varmegenererende affald. De Nationale Geologiske Undersøgelser for Danmark og Grønland (GEUS) har af Folketinget fået tildelt opgaven med at undersøge, om der eksisterer områder i en dybde omkring 500 meter i den danske undergrund, der har de nødvendige geologiske egenskaber for etablering af et sikkert slutdepot for det radioaktive affald.

Det geologiske slutdepotprojekt omhandler de geologiske forhold, der skal tages i betragtning inden en eventuel beslutning om etablering af et dybt geologisk slutdepot for det danske radioaktive affald. De geologiske undersøgelser udføres sideløbende med aktiviteter hos Uddannelses- og Forskningsministeriet (UFM), der er overordnet ejer af slutdepotprojektet, og Dansk Dekommissionering (DD), som har ansvaret for at opbevare affaldet, indtil det skal slutdeponeres (MHES, 2021). Socio-økonomiske forhold, endeligt depotkoncept og -design, sikkerhedsforhold m.v. er ikke en del af det geologiske projekt, men varetages af UFM.

Retningslinjer for identificering af områder egnede til dyb geologisk slutdeponering Internationale anbefalinger til de geologiske undersøgelser, der skal lede til identificering af en egnet lokalitet for dyb geologisk deponering af radioaktivt affald, er præsenteret af bl.a. det Internationale Atom Energi Agentur (IAEA, 2011) og Norris (2012) – her oversat til dansk:

"At identificere og kortlægge lav-permeable bjergarter, der udgør tilstrækkeligt tykke formationer (mere end 100 meter), og som har en kontinuert lateral udbredelse (flere kilometer i hver retning) indenfor studieområdet. Formationen skal være homogen og må ikke indeholde betydelige diskontinuiteter så som store forkastninger og sprækker. Formationen skal være så mineralogisk homogen og ensartet som muligt. De geologiske forhold skal være stabile på både kort sigt og indenfor en længere tidshorisont afhængigt af affaldets karakter."

Projektet vil følge retningslinjer fra IAEA (IAEA, 2011; IAEA, 2018a; IAEA, 2018b), Det Nukleare Agentur under OECD (NEA, 2005; NEA, 2008; NEA, 2012) og EU-direktiver indenfor området (EU, 2011).

Som bemærket af IAEA (IAEA, 2018a; IAEA, 2018b), er det ikke muligt at udpege ét enkelt område som det bedst egnede baseret på de geologiske egenskaber, idet det er umuligt at undersøge og karakterisere alle naturlige variationer af de geologiske egenskaber ned til 500 meters dybde indenfor et givent område. Opgaven er derimod at identificere et egnet område, der samlet set kan opfylde de definerede krav til sikkerhed og funktionalitet af depotet, samtidig med at etableringen af et geologisk slutdepot i området er teknisk mulig og accepteret af beslutningstagere og interessenter.

Omfanget af de geologiske undersøgelser, der er nødvendige at udføre, er defineret på basis af erfaringer fra lignende projekter i bl.a. Frankrig (ANDRA, 2005), Sverige (SKB, 2007), Schweiz (SFOE, 2008; Nagra, 2017), Holland (COVRA 2017), og Finland (POSIVA, 2017a

og b). Kontakter er i løbet af projektet etableret til flere af disse organisationer med henblik på udveksling af erfaringer samt rådgivning og kvalitetssikring for det geologiske slutdepotprojekt. Som et resultat af dette internationale samarbejde, blev der i første fase af slutdepotprojektet gennemført et review af de definerede geologiske kriterier (præsenteret i Rapport nr. 1), hvor kommentarer og anbefalinger er afrapporteret i Blechschmidt et al. (2021).

På baggrund af flere årtiers undersøgelser af de lokale geologiske forhold har nogle lande besluttet at etablere et dybt slutdepot i marine lersten (ANDRA-Frankrig, COVRA-Holland, Nagra-Schweiz). I Sverige (SKB) og Finland (POSIVA) er det besluttet at etablere dybe geologiske slutdepoter i krystallinsk grundfjeld. Mange andre lande arbejder stadig med lokaliseringsprojekter, og udover krystallinsk grundfjeld og lersten er også kalksten, mergel og salt vurderet som mulige bjergarter for deponering afhængigt af de lokale geologiske forhold.

Det geologiske projekt vedrørende et muligt slutdepot i 500 meters dybde

Forud for det igangværende geologiske projekt blev en screening af den danske undergrund foretaget med henblik på at undersøge, om lavpermeable bjergarter findes i 500 meters dybde i den danske undergrund. Denne screening viste, at i 500 meters dybde findes jurassiske og kretassiske lagserier, der indeholder tætte formationer af lersten og kalksten samt prækambrisk grundfjeld bestående af granit og gnejs. Alle disse bjergartstyper kan under de rette omstændigheder have geologiske egenskaber, der gør dem egnede som værtsbjergart for et dybt geologisk slutdepot (Gravesen, 2016). Baseret på dette arbejde blev undersøgelserne i nærværende projekts første fase igangsat.

Det geologiske slutdepotprojekt blev påbegyndt i januar 2019 og forventes at forløbe over en 7-årig periode. Projektet udgør den geofaglige del af det samlede projekt om et muligt dybt geologisk slutdepot, som er defineret i Folketingets beslutning B90 (Danish Parliament, 2018). Det geologiske projekt varetages af GEUS' personale med bidrag fra eksterne forskningsinstitutioner, konsulentfirmaer og internationale eksperter, hvor det er nødvendigt. På grundlag af en karakterisering og evaluering af undergrundens geologiske undersøgelser i projektets første fase, skal to lokaliteter udvælges til detaljerede geologiske undersøgelser i projektets anden fase. Uddannelses- og Forskningsstyrelsen (UFS) har ansvaret for at tilrettelægge og gennemføre en dialogproces, der inden udgangen af 2022 kan føre til afklaring af muligheden for at etablere et partnerskab mellem UFM og én eller flere kommuner om gennemførelsen af detaljerede geologiske undersøgelser.

I projektets første fase er de forskellige bjergarter kortlagt og deres egenskaber er beskrevet i det omfang, der findes data. Det skal i den sammenhæng bemærkes, at den tilgængelige information er ujævnt fordelt både geografisk og geologisk. De eksisterende data fra 500 meters dybde er hovedsageligt indsamlet fra tidligere olie- og gasefterforskningsboringer og relaterede seismiske undersøgelser og i mindre grad fra geotermiske, geotekniske og videnskabelige undersøgelser. De fleste dybe boringer i Danmark har haft som hovedformål at påvise tilstedeværelsen af sandsten og karakterisere deres reservoiregenskaber, hvorfor det er meget sparsomt med data fra de lavpermeable bjergarter som lersten og kalksten, der kan anvendes som værtsbjergarter, og som nærværende slutdepotprojekt har fokus på. Den nuværende kortlægning af undergrundens geologi er derfor behæftet med varierende grad af nøjagtighed og pålidelighed for de forskellige parametre, særligt for de lavpermeable bjergarter, som er vigtige for et geologisk sludepot. Gennemgangen af de eksisterende data har bidraget til at identificere områder med manglende geologiske data og informationer, hvor det er vigtigt at sikre indsamling af nye data i den næste fase af projektet.

I projektets anden fase skal detaljerede geologiske undersøgelser, som nævnt, foretages på to valgte lokaliteter. Undersøgelserne vil omfatte indsamling af seismiske profiler med geofysiske metoder og boring af dybe borehuller. I borehullerne udtages bl.a. borekerner og vandprøver, og der indsamles petrofysiske målinger for efterfølgende analyser med henblik på karakterisering af forseglingsegenskaberne og geotekniske egenskaber. Disse data vil indgå bl.a. i modellering af stoftransport, bestemmelse af geokemisk retardation, seismisk kortlægning og vurdering af geoteknisk stabilitet. De geologiske og geotekniske egenskaber vil også have indflydelse på hvilket depotdesign, der er teknisk muligt og sikkerhedsmæssigt forsvarligt i undergrunden. De indsamlede data og analyser vil efterfølgende indgå i en sik-kerhedsvurdering, der skal afklare, om det samlede depotkoncept med de geologiske barrierer i kombination med de konstruerede barrierer kan levere den nødvendige sikkerhed for deponering på både kort og lang sigt.

Opsummering af Rapport nr. 3: Udbredelsen og egenskaber af Øvre Kridt og Palæocæne kalksten (Upper Cretaceous chalk and Paleocene limestone distribution and properties)

I dybder ned til 500 meter består den danske undergrund i stort omfang af kalksten, der blev aflejret i sen Kridt og Danien tidsperioderne. Aflejringerne refereres samlet til som "Chalk Group" (Kalkgruppen). Kalkstenen i Kalkgruppen er en finkornet sedimentær bjergart, der består af skalfragmenter fra kalkskallede nannofossiler, hovedsageligt kokkospherer, samt mindre mængder af foraminiferer og fragmenter af makrofossiler. Nogle intervaller indeholder en del lermineraler, som hovedsageligt består af smectit og illite.

Den øvre del af Kalkgruppen, som kendes fra undergrunden i danske landområder, er inddelt i fire formationer: Møns Klint Formationen (Maastrichtien), Mandehoved Formationen (Campanien), Stevns Klint Formationen (Nedre-Mellem Danien) og København Kalk Formationen (Øvre Danien). Disse formationer er underinddelt i led, baseret på litologiske forskelle, herunder intervaller med varierende indhold af ler og lermineraler.

Toppen af Kalkgruppen findes stedvis blotlagt i terrænoverfladen, men er oftest begravet til dybder varierende fra nogle få ti-tal af meter til flere hundrede meter, hvor den er kortlagt i undergrunden baseret på seismiske data og nogle få dybe boringer. Tykkelsen af Kalkgruppen overstiger 500 meter i størstedelen af landet og kan lokalt i det Danske Bassin opnå en tykkelse på mere end 2000 meter (i den nordligste del af Sjælland).

Kalksten findes i de fleste områder af Danmark i tykkelser på flere hundrede meter i lagserien over 500 meters dybde og vil derfor i de fleste tilfælde udgøre en stor del af den samlede geologiske barriere for et slutdepot, der placeres i 500 meters dybde. I tilfælde af at slutdepotet placeres i kalksten eller mergel, vil sedimenter fra Kalkgruppen således udgøre både værtsbjergarten og den overliggende barrierebjergart.

De øverste 0-50 meter af Kalkgruppen er generelt meget detaljeret beskrevet, både fra lokale naturlige blotninger i terrænet, kalkstensbrud og fra grundvandsboringer, idet den øverste

del af kalkstenen udgør magasiner for grundvandsindvinding i store dele af landet. Herudover er kalkstenen i den øverste del af Kalkgruppen også gennemboret i forbindelse med geotekniske undersøgelser forud for anlægsarbejder så som metroen i København samt større broer og tunneller. Informationer fra de dybere dele af Kalkgruppen er indsamlet i forbindelse med olie og gas efterforskningsboringer samt nogle få geotermiske og geovidenskabelige boringer. Erslev boringerne i Erslev salthorst, og Stevns boringerne, er de eneste dybe boringer, der er udført med henblik på specifikt at indsamle information om egenskaberne af dybereliggende kalksten, og data herfra er således værdifulde i relation til det geologiske slutdepotprojekt.

Eksisterende detaljeret kortlægning af forkastninger og frakturer i kalksten er begrænset, da der kun findes sparsomme dybe seismiske data for landområderne, der er indsamlet med henblik på kortlægning af Kalkgruppen. En undtagelse er Københavnsområdet, hvor nogle få markante strukturelle elementer er detaljeret beskrevet, men kun til dybder på omkring 100 meter.

De øverste 0-20 meter af Kalkgruppen er karakteriseret af forskellige grader af subglacial deformation i form af knusning og sprækkedannelse. Sprækker forekommer både horisontalt og vertikalt udstrakte. I dybere dele af kalken ses også stedvis tegn på tidligere sprækker, men de synes at være lukkede på nuværende tidspunkt. De hydrauliske egenskaber af matrixen i Kalkgruppen er sjældent beskrevet på dybder under 20-50 meter, idet meget få borekerner er indsamlet fra større dybder. Der eksisterer således kun sparsomme informationer om de petrofysiske egenskaber. De tilgængelige data viser, at der er et konsistent fald i matrix porøsitet og permeabilitet med stigende dybde på grund af øget kompaktion og cementeringsprocesser, der resulterer i opløsning og genudfældning af kalcit. Tilstedeværelsen af ler (mergel) resulterer i højere grad af kompaktion og dermed lavere porøsiteter og permeabilitet med vøre på samme dybde. Den faldende permeabilitet med dybden synes at være relateret til både generel kompaktion, men også til et højere lerindhold i den nedre del. Cementering relateret til calcit genudfældning begynder typisk ved dybder på 1100 meter.

Kalkstenen er generelt over-kompakteret, idet store mægtigheder af Paleogene sedimenter tidligere har overlejret den, og efterfølgende er fjernet under perioder med opløft og erosion i Neogen tid. I stevnsområdet er det på grundlag af hastighedsdata og porøsiteter i kalken estimeret, at området har været begravet 500-700 meter dybere end i dag, og derfor er "over-kompakteret" i forhold til hvad der kan forventes i de nuværende begravelsesdybder. Det betyder, at i nogen områder er kalkstenen hårdere og mere kompetent, end forventet ud fra den nuværende begravelsesdybde.

Kalkens hydrauliske konduktivitet på dybder større end 20-50 meter er kun beskrevet fra nogle få lokaliteter, idet kun enkelte dybe boringer er blevet testet. Et eksempel er fra den kalksten, der findes overlejret Mors saltdomen, og som er gennemboret i Erslev-boringerne. Resultaterne af intervaltest i Erslev-boringerne viser et fald fra 1-4 mD (milliDarcy) i de øverste 240 meter til 0,02-0,06 mD i 400-500 meters dybde. På grund af de særlige strukturelle og geomekaniske forhold, der eksisterer på toppen af en saltstruktur og deres indflydelse på sprække-permeabiliteten, er det usikkert, hvorvidt disse data er repræsentative for kalksten andre steder i den danske undergrund. Et indirekte estimat af vertikal transport fra dybe dele af Kalkgruppen i et strukturelt set ukompliceret område er publiceret fra Stevns-1 boringen.

Estimatet er baseret på salinitetsprofiler og temperaturmålinger. Resultaterne tyder på, at diffusion er den dominerende vertikale transportmekanisme for opløste stoffer på større dybder, og at der ikke foregår strømning via sprækker.

Mulig transport af radioaktive nuklider i kalksten kan bremses på grund af sorption eller ved udfældning af radionuklider med kalcit, men effektiviteten afhænger både af typen af nuklider og geokemien af porevand /grundvand samt den specifikke geokemiske sammensætning af bjergarten. Små mængder af ler, sulfid og jernoxider, som også findes i kalksten, kan have sorptionsegenskaber, som for nogle nuklider vil være af større betydning for den faktiske sorption, end udfældning med kalcitmineraler i kalken. Der eksisterer kun få studier af sorptionskapaciteten for kalksten i den danske undergrund, og det er vigtigt at få mere specifik viden om interaktionen mellem den potentielle værts- og barrierebjergart og nukliderne i det radioaktive affald for fremadrettet bedre at kunne evaluere sorptionskapaciteten, og dermed værts- og barrieregenskaberne af den danske kalksten.

1. Introduction

In 2018, the Danish Parliament agreed that the long-term solution for Denmark's radioactive waste should include a deep geological repository operating no later than 2073 (Danish Parliament, 2018). The waste is temporarily stored by the Danish Decommissioning (DD) on the Risø peninsula. It amounts to more than 10,000 m³ and comprises mostly low-level radioactive waste (LLW), and a minor volume of medium-level waste MLW), including 233 kg special waste – but no high-level radioactive material (HLW).

The Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland (GEUS) has been given the task by the Danish Parliament to investigate whether areas can be identified where potential host rock with suitable properties for geological disposal is present at 500 meters depth. The task is carried out in parallel with activities by the Danish Ministry of Higher Education and Science (MHES), being the project owner, and DD, being responsible for management of the radioactive waste including storage of the waste and final disposal.

The geological project was initiated in 2019 and is expected to be carried out within a period of approximately seven years. The bulk of the workload will be undertaken by staff members at GEUS, with contributions from external consultancy companies, organisations, and experts as needed. The geological siting project comprises two major phases. The current first project phase is a desk study with the purpose to map and characterize geological properties and conditions of potential host rocks in the Danish subsurface, mainly based on existing data. In the second project phase of the geological project, detailed geological investigations will be carried out at two specific sites to investigate whether the geological properties are suitable for safe disposal of radioactive waste in a deep geological repository at these specific sites. The two sites must be selected in a dialogue-based process between MHES and the local municipalities. Subjects and conditions, such as socio-economic issues, activities relating to civil participation, disposal facility design, safety cases, and other non-geological issues will be addressed and handled separately by MHES and DD with contributions from GEUS where relevant.

1.1 Guidelines for identification of deep geological repository sites

International recommendations on geological studies required to identify suitable sites for deep disposal of radioactive waste have been presented by e.g. the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA, 2011) and Norris (2012) as follows:

"To identify and map layers of low-permeable rock types that are sufficiently thick (more than 100 meters) and which have a continuous lateral extension (several km²) throughout the entire study area. The rock body should also be sufficiently homogeneous and represent no significant discontinuities like fractures and faults. Furthermore, the rocks should be as mineralogical homogeneous and uniform as possible. The geological conditions should be stable in the short term as well as in the long term."

These recommendations as well as experience from siting projects in other countries have been used to identify investigations that need to be performed in the Danish project. Experience from other countries include France (ANDRA, 2005), Holland (COVRA, 2018), Switzer-land (SFOE, 2008; Nagra, 2017), Sweden (SKB, 2007) and Finland (POSIVA, 2017a, b).

In some countries, based on several decades of comprehensive subsurface studies, it has been concluded that marine claystones and clay rich carbonates (marl) may constitute suitable host rocks for a final geological disposal. Therefore, extensive research on clay deposits is continuously ongoing and makes available significant amounts of data and experiences that may be valuable for this project (e.g. ANDRA-Belgium, COVRA-Holland, Nagra-Switzerland). In the Czech Republic, a former limestone mine is used for disposal of institutional waste comprising radioactive material similar to the components in the Danish waste. In other countries, including Sweden, Finland, and Norway, it has been decided to establish final repositories in crystalline bedrock. When relevant, the current project in Denmark will draw on others experiences and cooperate with relevant radioactive waste disposal organisations. Furthermore, the project will follow guidelines from IAEA (IAEA 2011; IAEA 2018 a,b), the Nuclear Energy Agency (NEA (OECD), 2005; NEA 2006; NEA, 2008; NEA, 2012) and the EU directive regarding this field (EU, 2011).

As noted by the IAEA (2018 a, b), the impossibility of finding "the safest site" based on rock properties should be emphasised, because it is not possible to investigate and determine the detailed nature of every possible site. Instead, the key to find a suitable site will be to have it fulfil the required level of safety and performance, and that establishing a repository here is also acceptable to decision makers and stakeholders.

1.2 The deep geological repository project

A geological screening of the Danish subsurface layers present at 500 meters depth was carried out prior to initiation of the current geological siting project, to investigate whether low permeable rocks occur at this depth. The screening showed that the Jurassic and Cretaceous stratigraphic intervals at 500 meters depth comprise chalk, limestone, marl, and claystone, and the Precambrian basement comprises crystalline rocks in terms of gneiss and granite, which may all potentially provide a host rock for a deep geological repository (Gravesen, 2016). Based on this work, it was recommended to further analyse and characterize the geological conditions and barrier effectiveness of the geological formations at depths to 500 meters below the surface, which resulted in a decision to initiate the first phase of the present project.

The first phase of the present geological siting project comprises a geological review of all data available in the GEUS archives, the drilling-sample storage facilities, and from literature. The data have been used to map and describe relevant properties of the rock types identified at depths to around 500 meters, as well as natural processes potentially influencing the short-and long-term geological stability. The results form the basis of a subdivision into geologically different areas which are characterised and evaluated regarding the areas' potential suitability for deep disposal as described in the project's Report No. 9 (cf. Chapter 7.1 for reference).

The geological desk studies were carried out as separate work packages and presented in a number of reports (Reports No. 2-7; cf. Chapter 7.1 for references) addressing the following issues: overview of the onshore geological setting in Denmark; subsurface mapping based on seismic data and well data; a geological description of the three rock types chalk, claystone and crystalline basement, respectively, and issues potentially influencing long-term geological stability, such as climate conditions, possible glaciations, earthquake risks and groundwater conditions. Based on the results of the geological desk studies, conceptual 1D numerical modelling was performed to identify properties and conditions with high importance for the rocks' barrier-effectiveness for retardation of the radionuclides (Report No. 8; cf. Chapter 7.1 for reference).

Information on the subsurface geological formations onshore Denmark is quite scattered and of highly varying quality. The archives and databases comprise 2D seismic data of different vintages and quality as they are acquired for different purposes. Well data exist mainly from deep wells drilled for hydrocarbon exploration, some geothermal wells, and other technical/scientific drillings. Thus, as the data from various regions of Denmark varies in vintage, quality and level of detail, the current picture is by no means comprehensive. However, the geological desk studies combined with some new sedimentological and stratigraphic studies, and initial sensitivity studies from the conceptual 1D modelling have proven highly valuable; both in detailed mapping and identifying rock types, as well as in identifying major data gaps and critical parameters, for which it is important to obtain information during the next phase of the project.

The characterisation and evaluation carried out in this first phase of the project provide the geological basis for selection of two sites for detailed geological investigations in the second phase of the project. A dialogue-based process for the site selection is managed by MHES.

As part of the detailed investigations in the second phase of the project, new data and information will be collected at the two sites to further evaluate whether the geological properties and conditions are favourable for deep disposal. Thus, the second phase sets off with planning and preparation for the investigations, which include acquisition of seismic data and the drilling of deep boreholes (deeper than 500 meters) at each site. The extensive data sampling program will, among others, include drill-cores, well logs, and groundwater samples - thus, providing samples and measurements for laboratory analyses and various other studies. Based on the new data, a characterisation and evaluation of the geological suitability of the two sites will be made. This characterisation will also be used by DD for identification of a suitable repository design and for evaluation of the combined retention capacity of the engineered and the geological barriers as input to a safety case.

2. Geological setting

The Cretaceous chalk and Danian limestone sediments are covered by Cenozoic deposits. The Cenozoic section in Denmark varies in thickness from 0 meter to more than 400 meters. In some regions around Limfjorden in Jylland, Djursland, and Stevns, the cover is thinner than 10 metersand locally in these areas chalk and limestone crop out on the ground surface (i.e. Pedersen & Petersen 2002, Jakobsen et al. 2013, Jakobsen & Pedersen 2013).

The chalk and limestone formations of Upper Cretaceous-Danian age are referred to the Chalk Group (Lieberkind et al. 1982). The Chalk Group has a significant thickness and occurs at 500 meters depth in most parts of Denmark overlying older sediments of Jurassic and Lower Cretaceous age (Figs 1, 2 & 3).



Figure 1. The distribution of the Chalk Group at 500 metersbelow ground surface.

Figur 1. Udbredelsen af Kalkgruppen i 500 m's dybde under terrænoverfladen.



Figure 2. N – S cross-section from Frederikshavn to Blåvandshuk showing the thickness variations of the Chalk Group that overlies Lower Cretaceous and older formations (modified from https://data.geus.dk/gedterm/) Figur 2. N-S geologisk profil der viser tykkelsesvariationer i Chalk Group, som overlejrer Nedre kridt og ældre formationer (modificeret fra https://dafa.geus.dk/geoterm/).

N-S fra Frederikshavn til Blåvandshuk som viser tykkelsen af kalkgruppen.

The Chalk Group is deposited in the Norwegian-Danish Basin and also in the North-German Basin located south of the Ringkøbing-Fyn High (Figure 3). It comprises Danian limestone of calcarenite, calcareous mudstone and bryozoan limestone (Figure 4) and Cretaceous chalk consisting mainly of a fine grained coccolithic matrix.



Figure 3. Isopach map of the Chalk Group in Denmark (Japsen 1998, Larsen et al. 2014).

Figur 3. Tykkelseskort af Kalkgruppen i Danmark (Japsen 1998, Larsen et al. 2014).

The Sorgenfrei-Tornquist zone (also referred to as the Fennoscandian Border Zone in literature (i.e. Liboriussen et al. 1987, Thomsen 1995)) is a significant and complex tectonic zone defining the border between the stable Fennoscandian-Baltic Shield and the metastable Norwegian-Danish Basin. The Sorgenfrei-Tornquist Zone is delineated by large faults and the area has a long and complex tectonic history (Liboriussen et al. 1987, Norling & Bergstrøm 1987, Vejbæk & Britze 1994, Erlstrøm et al. 1997). The overall tectonic fault pattern was established in Paleozoic time. During Paleozoic and Mesozoic time basins developed southwest of the Sorgenfrei-Tornquist Zone. During the late Cretaceous and early Cenozioc dextral transpressional stresses induced inversion in the Sorgenfrei-Tornquist Zone. In late Cretaceous large amounts of chalk deposited in the Norwegian-Danish Basin as well as Danian limestone. The thickest deposits are Upper Cretaceous chalk with the depocenter against the Fennoscandian Border Zone in north Zealand and the depocenter for the Danian Limestone is in Central Jylland. The total thickness of the Maastrichtian and Danian limestone varies from about 500 metersin southern Jylland to more than 2000 metersadjacent to the Sorgenfrei-Tornquist Zone.



Figure 4. Two conceptual sections showing the distribution of the limestone and chalk deposits in Denmark. Note that the thickness of the Danian Limestone is larger in central Jylland and calcareous mudstone is predominantly present in the western part of Denmark. (Profile 1 after Thomsen 1995. Profile 2 compiled after Fallesen 1995, Foged et al. 1995, Gravesen 1994, Kelstrup 1995, Klitten 2003, Mielby & Sandersen 2005, Nielsen & Japsen 1991, Pedersen 2001 and Stenestad 1976).

Figur 4. To konceptuelle tværsnit der viser tykkelsesfordelingen af forskellige kalksten i Danmark. Tykkelsen af Danian Limestone er størst i det centrale Jylland ligesom og slamkalk (calcareous mudstone) forekommer primært i den vestlige del af Danmark. (Profil 1 efter Thomsen 1995. Profil 2 er sammenstillet efter Fallesen 1995, Foged et al. 1995, Gravesen 1994, Kelstrup 1995, Klitten 2003, Mielby & Sandersen 2005, Nielsen & Japsen 1991, Pedersen 2001 og Stenestad 1976).

3. Lithology and Stratigraphy of the chalk package

The chalk package comprises Danian limestone consisting of calcarenite, calcareous mudstone and bryozoan limestone (Figure 4) and Cretaceous chalk consisting mainly of a fine grained coccolithic matrix.

3.1 Cretaceous chalk

The Maastrichtian chalk crops out on the pre-Quaternary surface in the northern part of Jylland and in the southern and eastern parts of Sjælland and Møn in the Baltic area (Figure 4). The thickness of Cretaceous chalk deposits is at least 450 meters on Stevns (Surlyk et al. 2013) and more than 2000 meters in North Sjælland adjacent to the Sorgenfrei-Tornquist Zone (Figure 3).

In the Central Graben in the North Sea the Chalk Group is divided into 6 log units labelled Chalk 1 Unit to Chalk 6 Unit. Chalk 1 Unit to Chalk 5 Unit are of Cretaceous age and Chalk 6 Unit is Danian (Lower Paleocene) (Lieberkind et al. 1982).

Within the Danish Basin the upper 450 meters of the Cretaceous chalk has formally been defined as the Mandehoved Formation (Campanian) and Møns Klint Formation (Maastrichtian) primarily based on the Stevns-1 borehole (Surlyk et al. 2013) (Figure 5). The chalk immediately below Møns Klint Formation is not formally named, but it consists mainly of pure chalk (Surlyk et al. 2013).

Stage	Danish Basin		Norwegian North Sea	UK North Sea	Danish North Sea
	Formation	Member	Formation	Formation	
	Møns Klint	Højerup Rjølby- gaard Sigerslev	Tor	Tor	Chalk 5 Unit
Maastric		Rørdal			
		Hvidskud			
an	Mandehoved	Boesdal	Mackerel	Hod	Chalk 4 Unit
Campani		Flagbanke			
	unnam	ed			

Figure 5. Lithostratigraphy of the Campanian and Maastrichtian in the Danish Basin and the North Sea (Modified from Surlyk et al. 2013).

Figur 5. Lithostratigrafi af Campanien og Maastrichtian i det Danske Bassin og Nordsøen (modificeret efter Surlyk et al. 2013).

The Campanian Mandehoved Fm is subdivided into Flagbanke Member and Boesdal Member. The Flagbanke Member is about 45 meters thick in the Stevns-1 core and consists of alternating meter-thick beds of chalk and thinner marly chalk with centimeter thick marl layers. The Boesdal Member is 85 meters thick in the Stevns-1 core and consists of alternating decimeter to meter thick beds of chalk, marly chalk and marl (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Part of Boesdal Member in Stevns-1 core, with alternating chalk, marly chalk and marl (dark grey layes).

Figur 6. Dele af Boesdal Member i Stevns-1 kernen med vekslende lag af kalk, lerholdig kalk og mergel (de mørkegrå lag).

The Maastrichtian Møns Klint Formation is subdivided into Hvidskud Mb, Rørdal Mb, Sigerslev Mb, Kjølbygaard Mb and Højerup Mb.

The Hvidskud Member is 204 meters thick in the Stevns-1 core and it is the thickest member of the Møns Klint Fm. It comprises alternating beds of white chalk and light grey marly chalk. The Rørdal Member (Surlyk et al. 2010) is exposed at the Rørdal quarry in Aalborg (Figure 7), and it is present in cores from boreholes south of Aalborg, Karlstrup-1, Stevns-1 and Stevns-2 (Nielsen & Jørgensen 2008, Surlyk et al. 2010). It is 9 meters thick at Rørdal and 29 to 36 meters thick in the boreholes on eastern Sjælland. The Rørdal Member is separating groundwater reservoirs within the chalk, if it is not too affected by faulting (Nielsen & Jørgensen 2008).



Figure 7. The Rørdal Member, showing interbedded dark layers of marl, exposed in the Rørdal quarry Aalborg (foto: Erik Thomsen).

Figur 7. Rørdal Member der indeholder mørke lag af mergel, blotlagt i Rørdal bruddet, Aalborg (foto: Erik Thomsen).

The Sigerslev Member is 61 meters thick in the Stevns-1 core, and the upper part is exposed in the coastal cliff at Stevns and in the Sigerslev quarry (Figure 8). It consists of white chalk, with few marl layers, and bands of flint nodules.

The Kjølbygård Member is 35 cm at the type section and is present in Northern Jylland and in wells in the Danish basin in Tune-1 and Tuba-13. The member was described as a thin marl bed with thin laminae of slightly contorted chalk.

The Højerup Member has a total of 2.2 meters in the Stevns-1 core. It is a bryozoan chalk wackestone with a significantly larger grain size than the underlying members. Flint occur as nodule bands.



Figure 8. Sigerslev Formation exposed in the Sigerslev quarry at Stevns.

Figur 8. Sigerslev Formationen blotlagt i Sigerslev bruddet på Stevns.

3.2 Danian limestone

The Danian crops out on the pre-Quaternary surface in a belt across Jylland and on Sjælland (Figure 4). The Danian limestone consists of several limestone types as bryozoan limestone, coral limestone, calcareous mudstone and calcarenite limestone, (Jakobsen et al. 2016, Thomsen 1995). The youngest unit is the often hard and massive limestone (København Kalk Formation; Stenestad 1976) (Figure 9).

The early and middle Danian bryozoan limestone was formally defined as the Stevns Klint Formation by Surlyk et al. (2006). It usually contains 20 to 45 % bryozoan fragments, but it might also appear as mudstone or calcarenite where only few bryozoans are present. Usually the bryozoan limestone is deposited in mounds (Figure 10), which are strongly asymmetric in the lower part and less asymmetric upwards (Nielsen et al. 2009, Galsgård et al. 2014). Flint occurs occasionally in high amounts in some distinct limestone layers. Lenses of coral limestone occur within the bryozoan limestone. The thickness of the bryozoan limestone is from 53m to 63m in the København area (Stenestad 1976). The bryozoan limestone is generally

more indurated than Cretaceous chalk and it varies from not indurated (H1) to strongly indurated (H4). The indurated and strongly indurated limestone is calcite cemented.



Figure. 9. Lithostratigraphy of the Danian in eastern Denmark (from Galsgård et al. 2014).

Figur. 9. Lithostratigrafi af Danien in det østlige Danmark (fra Galsgård et al. 2014).



Figure 10. Assymetric mounds in the lower part of Stevns Klint Formation. Maastrichtian chalk in the lowermost part of the cliff, representing Sigerslev Member and Højerup Member. (Foto: T. Damholt).

Figur 10. Asymmetrisk bankestruktur i den nedre del af Stevns Klint Formation. Maastrichtien kalk i den nederste del af klinten repræsenterer Højerup Member og Sigerslev Member. (Foto: T. Damholt).

Coral limestone is very limited in distribution and is mainly known from the Faxe quarry on southern Sjælland where it has been formally defined as the Faxe Formation (Lauridsen et al. 2012). It is associated with bryozoan limestone and it also occurs as smaller lenses within the bryozoan limestone as can be seen in the Limhamn quarry in Malmø, Sweden and in excavations in Øresund from the construction of the Öresund bridge (Jakobsen 1997, Jakobsen et al. 1997). Coral limestone consists of fragments of coral branches with a micritic matrix. The corals are often dissolved, resulting in a highly indurated micrite with pipe-like macropores. Coral limestone is a very pure limestone, nearly free of chert.

Danian calcareous mudstone is a white or light greyish fine-grained chalk where about 50% of the particles are less than 5 μ m (Thomsen 1995). The Danian mudstone resembles the Cretaceous chalk but is has a larger fraction of silt size grains, and it contains up to 30% flint. The Danian mudstone is usually not indurated. The occurrence of the Danian mudstone is mainly in the western part of the Norwegian-Danish basin, in Jylland (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Danian calcareous mudstone in a quarry at Dalby Over.

Figur 11. Danien kalk muddersten (kaldet slamkalk) i kalkbrud ved Dalby Over.

The København Limestone Formation is of late Danian age. It is a sandy and silty carbonate mudstone and was formally defined by Stenestad (1976). It has a sub-horizontal layering with pronounced flint layers parallel to the layering (Figs 9, 12). A characteristic log-stratig-raphy has been established in the København area (Klitten et al. 1995, Olsen & Nielsen 2002). The København Limestone Formation is subdivided into a lower, middle and upper part, where the upper and lower parts are characterized by having abundant and thicker highly indurated limestone beds than the middle part. The thickness of the København Limestone Formation is 40 to 45 meters in the Copenhagen area.



Figure 12. København Limestone Formation overlying Stevns Klint Formation in the Limhamn quarry, Malmø, Sweden.

Figur 12. København Kalk Formation overlejrer Stevns Klint Formationen i Limhamn bruddet, Malmø, Sverige.

4. Diagenesis and strength of marl and limestone

The chalk generally has a decreasing porosity and permeability with depth, and increasing strength and induration (Jensen 2007, Knudsen & Jakobsen 2008 and Knudsen et al. 2010), (Figure 13).



Figure 13. Core data from the Stevns-1 well. The porosity (A) and permeability (B) values are based on plug data. The measured gas permeability has been recalculated to a proxy for fluid permeability (Mortensen et al. 1998).

Figur 13 (forrige side). Porøsitet *(A)* og permeabilitet *(B)* målt på kernemateriale fra Stevns-1 boringen. De målte gas-permeabiliteter er omregnet til fluid permeabilitet (Mortensen et al. 1998).

The reason for the downward decrease in porosity and permeability is that the calcite dissolve at grain contacts because of the weight of the overburden (pressure solution) and then subsequently precipitate in the pore space. This process is estimated to begin when the burial depth exceeds ca. 1100 meters (Fabricius et al., 2008). The assumed amount of sediments removed by erosion at Stevns during the Tertiary is ca. 600 – 700 meters (Japsen 1992, 1993, 1998, 2017, Japsen & Bidstrup 1999, Japsen et al. 2007), therefore pressure solution should be found at depths below ca. 400 meters at Stevns.

4.1 Induration

The induration of the chalk is assessed in the Stevns-1 core (Knudsen & Jakobsen 2008) according to Larsen et al. (1988) using a five-level scale:

H1: Loose material. H2: Weakly indurated. The material can be scratched with a fingernail. H3: Indurated. The material cannot be scratched with a finger nail, but with knife. H4: Strongly indurated. The material can be scratched with knife, but grains cannot be loosened. H5: Very strongly indurated. Material cannot be scratched with knife.

The general trend is that the chalk gets more indurated with depth. The chalk has an induration of H2 down to 265 meters below surface. From 265 to 340 meters below surface the chalk is slightly harder, and the induration is assessed to about H2.5. Below 340 meters the induration is assessed to be H3 (Knudsen & Jakobsen 2008). This is in good agreement with the Sonic velocity log of the well (Figure 15).

4.2 Rock strength

In Stevns-1 rock-mechanical testing was conducted on drill-core samples. It shows that there is a general increase in Unconfined Compression Strength (UCS) with depth (Figure 14). Below 300 meters the strength exceeds 10 MPa for the chalk and it is generally above 20 MPa in the depth interval between 300 and 500 meters. This increase in rock strength is also reflected in the increase in sonic velocity, which increases at ca. 300 meters in Stevns-1 (Fig 15).

The stability of the Chalk, if a cavern or tunnel were to be constructed, was described in Stevns-1 well (Knudsen & Jakobsen 2008) using the Q-system (Barton et al. 1994). The Q-values increases with depth. However, the stability is reduced in the presence of marl layers.



Figure 14. Unconfined Compression Strength (UCS) plotted against depth **(A)** and porosity **(B)** for the Stevns-1 and Rørdal wells (From Knudsen et al. 2010).

Figur 14. Unconfined Compression Strength (UCS) plottet imod dybde (A) og porøsitet (B) for Stevns-1 og Rørdal boringerne (Fra Knudsen et al. 2010).

4.3 The marl

The marl-rich intervals within the Maastrichtian occur in the Rørdal Member and Boesdal Member, which can be recognised due to high values on the gamma ray log from the Stevns-1 well (Figure 15). The marl within the Rørdal Member is dominated by smectite and quartz with some illite and minor Analcime (Ahlborn 2008, Surlyk et al. 2010).

The Rørdal and Boesdal Members can be correlated from the Stevns-1 well across eastern Sjælland (Figure 16) and across Denmark to the western part of Jylland (Knudsen et al. 2010) (Figure 17). The deep wells also show indications of marl rich intervals at lower levels than Boesdal Member.



Figure 15. Stevns-1 well gamma log (black) and sonic log (green). Increased gamma values in Rørdal (lightgreen) and Boesdal Members indicate increasing clay content. (From Kristensen et al. 2017).

Figur 15. Stevns-1 boring gammalog (sort) og sonic log (lydhastighed) (grøn). Høje værdier på gamma-loggen i Rørdal Member lysegrøn) og Boesdal Member (lyserød) afspejler et forøget lerindhold. (From Kristensen et al. 2017).

Reflection seismic data from Stevns indicate a higher clay content at a depth of 610 meters (Nielsen et al. 2011). Marl-rich intervals within the chalk, at deeper levels than the Boesdal Formation, is also seen as high gamma readings in i.e. Stenlille-6, Hobro-1 and Mors-1 wells (Figure 17).

For comparison is shown similar panels for other wells with information on the deeper chalk package (Figs 18, 19).



Figure 16. Well panel with gamma log (black) and sonic log (green). The gamma ray reflecting the clay content shows increased values in the Rørdal Member (lightgreen intervals) and the Boesdal Member (pink intervals). (From Kristensen et al. 2017). Figur 16. Brøndpanel for øst Sjælland med gammalog (sort) og soniclog (grøn). Gamma- loggen afspejler forøget ler indhold i Rørdal Member (lysegrønne intervaller) og Boesdal Member (lyserøde intervaller). (From Kristensen et al. 2017).





Green 88 to 107 msec/feet (faster sonic velocity – slightly indurated chalk (H2)). Blue < 88 msec/feet. (fast sonic velocity - indurated chalk (H3)). *Figur 17 (forrige side).* Log panel hen over Danmark (Knudsen et al. 2010): Soniclogs (blå) og gammalogs (rød) fra Mors-1, Hobro-1, Stenlille-6 og Stevns-1. Lithologi legende: Lys- til mørkebrune farver indikerer uren kalk med høje til meget høje gamma-værdier. Farveinterval for ren kalk (lave gamma-værdier) er baseret på sonic loggen: Gul: >107 msec/feet, (langsom sonic hastighed – blød kalk (H1)). Grøn 88 to 107 msec/feet (hurtigere sonic hastighed – delvist hærdnet kalk (H2)). Blå < 88 msec/feet (hurtig sonic hastighed – hærdnet kalk (H3)).



Figure 18. Well panels for Margretheholm-1 (left) and Hölviksnäs-1 (right). (From Kristensen et al. 2017).

Figur 18. Brøndpaneler for Margretheholm-1 (venstre panel) og Hölviksnäs-1 (højre panel). (From Kristensen et al. 2017).



Figure 19. Well panels for Karlslunde-1 (left) and Stenlille-1 (right). (From Kristensen et al. 2017).

Figur 19. Brøndpaneler for Karlslunde-1 (venstre panel) og Stenlille-1 (højre panel). (From Kristensen et al. 2017).

5. Faults and fractures

5.1 Faults

Several large faults occur within the Sorgenfrei-Tornquist Zone (Figure 3), intersecting the Chalk Group (Liboriussen et al. 1987). From the Sorgenfrei-Tornquist Zone a number of faults continues into the Norwegian-Danish Basin. In some areas the lateral extent of the chalk and limestone units is structurally controlled, seen as termination of units against faults. An example is seen at the Carlsberg Fault which is the most pronounced tectonic feature in the subsurface of København (Jakobsen & Klitten 1997). The SE–NW striking Carlsberg Fault separates the København Kalk Formation from the Stevns Klint Formation (Figure 20). The fault is one of a number of relay faults related to the Sorgenfrei-Tornquist Wrench Fault Zone. The Carlsberg Fault has been interpreted as a negative flower structure with off-set between 50–100 meters of the hanging-wall block down to the NE (Fallesen 1995, Jakobsen et al. 2002). The Carlsberg fault may still be active as terrain movements across the fault have been detected recently (Jakobsen et al. 2013) and neo-tectonic faulting of the Quarternary cover is seen (Kammann et al. 2016).



Figure 20. Seismic section across the Carlsberg Fault on Amager (exit 19 on E20)(From Fallesen 1995). KK=København Kalk Formation, BK=Bryozoan Limestone, SK=Chalk, Upper Maastrichtian.

Figur 20. Seismisk section hen over Carlsberg Forkastningen på Amager (afkørsel 19 på E20) (From Fallesen 1995). KK=København Kalk Formation, BK=Bryozokalk, SK=Kalk, Øvre Maastrichtian.

In the Aalborg region the mapping of the Rørdal Member as part of the groundwater mapping, showed that the member has been subjected to faulting, as it is found at varying levels in the area (Nielsen & Jørgensen 2008). Furthermore, the high-lying chalk is dissected by straight, incised valleys, within the pre-Quaternary surface, with incisions up to about 110 m, varying from 60 meters a.s.l. to 50 meters b.s.l. This relief (Figure 21) is caused by uplift of the chalk in the Sorgenfrei-Tornquist Zone, due to tectonic movements which created a complex fault

pattern. These faults and associated fracture zones create weakness zones, which subsequently have been eroded. Fracture patterns have been mapped in detail in the Aalborg region (Jakobsen & Madsen 1996).



Figure 21. Topography of the pre-Quaternary surface in the Aalborg region, north Jylland (from Jakobsen & Pedersen 2013). The incisions in the pre-Quaternary surface are located above weakness zones related to faulting and with the same orientation as faults in the area within the Sorgenfrei-Tornquist Zone; E-W, NW-SE and NE-SW.

Figur 21. Topography af præ-Kvartær overfladen i Aalborg området, Nordjylland (from Jakobsen & Pedersen 2013). Nedskæringerne i Prækvartær overfladen findes langs svaghedszoner over større forkastninger orienteret parallelt med Sorgenfrei-Tornquist Zonen; Ø-V, NV-SØ, og NØ-SV.

Just north of Mariager Fjord, a SkyTEM survey was performed (GERDA) (Figure 22). The survey revealed a fault, where a till layer has been down faulted. This has been interpreted

as one of a number of faults in the region (Jakobsen et al. 2013). In the fault zone, the saltwater, with a lower resistivity, has emerged to a much higher level as the surroundings, indicating a much higher conductivity.



Figure 22. East to West oriented SkyTEM survey just north of Mariager Fjord (GERDA) showing electrical conductivity. Note the thin yellow unit marked with arrows, with relatively high electrical conductivity, is displaced downwards on the eastern side, which is interpreted to indicate the presence of a fault. The blue colours have high electrical conductivity, and it outlines the salty groundwater, which at the interpreted fault is intruding to a higher level.

Figur 22. Øst-vest orienteret SkyTEM survey nord for Mariager Fjord (GERDA) som viser elektrisk konduktivitet. Bemærk den gule enhed markeret med pile, med relative høj elektrisk konduktivitet, der mod øst er lavereliggende, hvilket tyder på forsætning langs en forkastning. Den blå farve viser områder med høj elektrisk konduktivitet og markerer grundvand med høj salinitet. På profilet ses at det salte vand forekommer relativt højt, og tæt på terrænoverfladen i den tolkede forkastningszone.

5.2 Fractures

Chalk and limestone display varying degrees of fracturing. Generally, fractures can be divided into 3 different types (Figs 23, 24 and 25):

- Vertical fractures, typically of tectonic origin
- Horizontal fractures, typically generated by unloading (glaciers, Neogene erosion)
- Crushed chalk, typically caused by glaciers.


Figure 23. Vertical fractures in the København Limestone Formation in a temporary exposed outcrop in København.

Figur 23. Lodrette sprækker i København kalk Formationen observeret i en midlertidig blotning i København.



Figure 24. Vertical and horizontal fractures in the Sigerslev Member, Sigerslev quarry. Section approximately 1.5 meters high.

Figur 24. Lodrette og vandrette sprækker i Sigerslev Member, Sigerslev kalkbrud. Profilet ca. 1,5 meter højt.

Vertical fractures are grouped into fracture set after their orientation. Important parameters concerning conductivity is number of fracture set, spacing, aperture, size and connectivity.

In the Layered København Limestone Formation, horizontal fractures are usually seen between layers with different induration. In the bryozoan limestone the fractures follow the layering as well, giving them an undulating shape.



Figure 25. Closely spaced vertical fractures in Stevns Klint Formation, in a temporary exposed excavation in Sydhavnsgade, Copenhagen, situated close to the Carlsberg Fault. Compass for scale.

Figur 25. Tætliggende lodrette sprækker i Stevns Klint Formationen, i en midlertidig udgravning i Sydhavnsgade, København, nær Carlsberg Forkastningen. Kompas til skala.

The Carlsberg fault has locally a large impact on the hydraulic characteristics of the limestone in form of an increased hydraulic conductivity due to a dense network of fractures as seen in Figure 25 (Blem 2002, Markussen 2002). Anisotropic fracture-controlled water flow is also seen in the chalk in general. At Stevns there is a pronounced preferential flow controlled by fractures in the otherwise homogeneous chalk (Rosenborn & Jakobsen 2005) (Fig 26). The image was made at temperatures below 0°C, and the water flowing into the quarry is outlined with colours indicating the warmest areas (white at level A and green at level B). The image clearly shows that water inflow is mainly from the north, and is very limited from west, indicating a strong preferential and anisotropic fracture flow.

The top of the chalk or limestone is very often crushed and densely fractured by subglacial deformation, generated during the advance of a glacier (Figure 27). The glacial deformation is mostly seen within the upper 10 meters of the limestone. The number of horizontal fractures were measured at the Sigerslev quarry (Figure 28). Just below the glacial till the number of fractures is very high, however it decreases rapidly downwards through the upper 10 m, and become rather constant further down, however still decreasing slightly with depth.



Figure 26. Thermography image of the northern and western walls in the Sigerslev chalk quarry at Stevns. The image was made at temperatures below 0°C, and the water flowing into the quarry has colours indicating the warmest areas (white at level A; green at level B).

Figur 26. Termografisk billede af nordlige og vestlige vægge i Sigerslev kalkbrud ved Stevns. Billedet blev optaget ved lufttemperaturer under 0°C, og vandtilstrømning (ca. 8°C) ind i bruddet ses som de varmeste områder (hvide farver på niveau A og grøn på niveau B).





Figur 27. Glacialt knust og opsprækket København Kalk Formation ved Limhamn, Sverige (Jakobsen 1994).



Figure 28. Number of horizontal fractures per meter with depth, measured in Sigerslev quarry, Stevns.

Figur 28. Antal horisontale sprækker pr. meter for stigende dybde, målt i Sigerslev bruddet, Stevns.

5.3 General observations on fractures

- In general fractures generated from subglacial deformation are very common at terrain surface and decrease rapidly in number downwards to depths of around 10 meters
- Intense fracturing is observed at deeper levels near major faults related to the Sorgenfrei-Tornquist zone (tectonically induced).

6. Hydraulic characterization of the chalk/limestone

When characterizing the hydraulic properties of groundwater reservoirs, the following parameters are used:

- Hydraulic conductivity (K) in m/sec
- Permeability (k) in mD (milliDarcy)
- Transmissivity (T) in m²/sec

The hydraulic conductivity (K) is the flowability of a liquid in a porous medium, and it depends on both the properties of the aquifer and the liquid. The hydraulic conductivity is thus defined as the amount of water that, within a given time, can be transported through a given crosssectional area with a hydraulic gradient of one. Hydraulic conductivity is usually given in the unit m/s.

Permeability (k) has the dimension of area (e.g. m²), but is normally given in the unit of mD (milliDarcy) or Darcy, a unit commonly used in laboratories and in the oil/gas industry. Throughout this report the conductivity will be given in both m/s and in the mD unit systems.

In the included studies it is assumed that conductivity K of $1*10^{-8}$ m/s is equal to 1 mD.

The core plug permeabilities reported in many studies have been measured with gas permeameter. To enable comparison to the hydraulic test results the values have been converted to fluid permeability with the relationship established between gas permeability and Klinkenberg corrected permeability (common proxy for true fluid permeability): k(Klink)=0.52* $k(gas)^{1.083}$ (Mortensen et al. 1998).

For core plugs, the orientation is usually horizontal, i.e. plugs drilled from the side of the core. In formations that are heterogeneous at small scale, e.g. having stylolites or thin clay laminae, the vertical permeability may be lower by orders of magnitude, thus not being represented by the values derived from horizontal plugs. Thus, permeability should always be measured on vertical plugs as well.

Transmissivity (T) means the ability to transport water per unit of time through a certain aquifer thickness (carrying capacity). The transmissivity is thus defined as the product of the hydraulic conductivity and the thickness of the water-saturated zone in the aquifer and is indicated in m²/s. Transmissivity is usually determined by prolonged test pumping.

6.1 Hydraulic conditions in the chalk/limestone package

The data background includes 1) core material from wells, 2) outcrop material from surface, and 3) hydraulic tests in wells at variable depths.

The wells with available data are listed in Table 1, they are shown on the map (Figure 29) and in the well panel (Figure 30) from west to east across the Danish onshore area. Most of the data have been collected in connection with studies on groundwater flow and transport and mainly focussing on production of water from the uppermost 50-100 meters. The retardation of flow and the sealing properties of the chalk have therefore not been studied at the same detail, which significantly limits the interpretation of seal capacity of the chalk.

Table 1. List of wells with data from core material or hydraulic tests in the chalk/limestone sequence. Data from hydraulic tests from depths at 500 meters is available only from the ES1-ES4 wells.

Tabel 1. Liste over boringer med data fra kerne materiale eller hydrauliske test i kalkpakken. Data fra hydrauliske test fra 500 meters dybde findes kun fra ES1-ES4 boringerne.

Table for depth of wells with chalk/limestone				
	Well name	Total depth		
		m.		
	E1S	561		
	E2S	551		
	E3S	551		
	E4S	553		
	Rørdal-1	100		
	Dalbyover-1	350		
	Skælskør-1	263		
	Stevns-1	450		
	Stevns-2	350		
	Brøndby	19		
	Karlstrup	31		
	Karlslunde-1	269		
	Tune-1	50		
	Tuba-13	125		



Figure 29. Map showing the wells and outcrops with data available for the present study.

Figur 29. Kort der viser placering af boringer og blotninger hvorfra data er tilgængelige.



Figure 30. Well panel showing the depths of the chalk/limestone where data have been available for the present study.

Figur 30. Brøndpanel som viser, hvor data er tilgængelige fra den gennemborede kalkpakke.

6.2 Regional variation in hydraulic properties

Regionally, the hydraulic characteristics of the chalk and limestone vary considerably. In the areas important for water supply from the chalk and limestone, all dominant bedded rock types have visible open fracture zones at 0.5 to 1m intervals in the uppermost few tens of meters of the sequence. Along the eastern coastline of Sjælland, one or two highly permeable zones of horizontal fractures occur at 30-70 meters depth likely caused by rebound effects after glacial compression followed by unloading upon melting of the Weichselian ice shield. The same fracture patterns have been reported from the Aalborg region (Nielsen and Jørgensen 2008). The formation of horizontal fractures may be associated with the removal of overburden and stress relief processes. Consequently, bedding fractures may be expected to be more numerous, more laterally extensive and have larger apertures at relatively shallow depths (Bloomfield, 1999, Bonnesen et al. 2009).

Groundwater flow anomalies at surface and shallow depths have been noted with a few exotic examples of karst development in areas where the carbonates occur close to the ground surface (Nilsson & Gravesen 2018).

6.3 Transmissivity in the upper 50–100 meters of chalk

Transmissivity data and pumping test data from the JUPITER database have been used to calculate the transmissivity distribution in the upper 50-100 meters of the chalk/limestone sequence as input to the National Water Resources Model (DK model) in 500x500 meter grids. The information on transmissivity values in chalk is compiled from about 7500 screened sections in JUPITER. The distribution of estimated transmissivity values as shown in Figure 31 has been interpolated in ArcGIS using a top2rater method (Stisen et al., 2019).



Figure 31. Transmissivity in chalk/limestone in Denmark for the upper 50-100 meters layer in the Danish "National Vandressource Model" (DK-model 2019).

Figur 31. Transmissiviteten i kalksten i Danmark i de øvre 50-100 meter lag i den "Nationale Vandressource Model" (DK-model 2019)

6.4 Petrophysical properties of the chalk/limestone package

The hydraulic behaviour of chalk, limestones and marl is controlled by the matrix properties and the presence of open fractures. The amount of open fractures fully determines the potential for extracting groundwater which is generally restricted to the upper 50 meters of the chalk/limestone formations. This is due to the glacial deformation history with fracturing of the upper layer, whereas deeper levels were left relatively undisturbed.

6.5 Data availability

Only few detailed investigations of porosity and hydraulic conductivity have been carried out in the deeper parts of the chalk and limestone sediments that are of interest here. The matrix properties have been sampled and analysed extensively in wells, where drill cores are available and where formations are exposed at surface or in quarries.

The knowledge about the subsurface chalk and limestone in central Copenhagen was early on explored in the TUBA-13 well in connection with planning of the subway train tunnels. In 1967-1972 several boreholes were drilled in Copenhagen, the majority of which include strata of Danian age. The geological results from the cores retrieved from these drillings have been published by Stenestad (1976). One of the cores, TUBA 13, penetrated strata of Selandian, Danian and Upper Maastrichtian age and provided the first information about the deeper levels of the formations in the Copenhagen area (Nielsen 1976).

The wells Stevns-1 and Stevns-2 were drilled as scientific wells during 2005, reaching depths of 450 and 350 meters. The oldest strata recovered were dated as Late Campanian (Stemmerik et al. 2006, Surlyk et al. 2013). Outcrops at Stevns have supplied data for the uppermost parts of the sequence for both the Danian bryozoan limestones and the uppermost Maastrichtian chalk (Frykman 2001).

- The well Skælskør-1 (263 meters total depth) penetrated down into Late Campanian limestone (Thibault et al. 2015).
- The well Rørdal-1 (100 meters total depth) penetrates into the Upper Campanian limestones at 74 meters depth (Harlou et al. 2016).
- The well Dalbyover-1 penetrates a special lithology in the Danian of lime mudstone which is specific for this central part of the Danish Basin. This lime mudstone has a thickness of more than 60 meters in the well.
- The well Karlslunde-1 (DGU nr. 207.3850) penetrates to a total depth of 269 meters in the Maastrichtian chalk (Larsen et al. 2006).
- For investigating the sealing properties of the chalk overlying the Mors Salt Dome, 4 wells (E1S, E2S, E3S, E4S) were drilled to a depth of 550 meters b.s., and a summary was reported (Gosk et al 1981).

6.5.1 Matrix porosity and permeability of chalk and limestone

Matrix investigations have been carried out in two main material sources: 1) outcrops or shallow pits of different formations and 2) core material from wells drilled through various parts of the sequence.

From shallow pits and construction sites there are data available in the Copenhagen area as part of the metro tunnel construction (GEO 2014) and in the Karlstrup chalk quarry (Jakobsen et al. 1993; Brettmann et al. 1993). These investigations show, based on plug matrix measurements, that the Cretaceous chalk in these shallow burial settings is soft and friable with a matrix porosity of 35-50% and Danian limestone contains alternating hard and soft layers

and has a porosity of 10-35% (Figure 32). The hydraulic conductivity of the carbonate matrix rocks varies by orders of magnitude between $1*10^{-6}$ and $1*10^{-10}$ m/s (0.01-100 mD).



Figure 32. Crossplot of the porosity and permeability from different formations.

Figur 32. Figuren viser relationen mellem porøsitet og permeabilitet for de forskellige dele af kalkpakken og illustrerer opdelingen i to hovedpopulationer der knytter sig til henholdsvis Danien kalksten/bryozokalk (blå) samt til den mere finkornede kridtbjergart (rød) med mindre permeabiliteter.

The porosity and permeability data clearly show two main populations that can be linked to either the Danian limestones/bryozoan limestones, or to the finer grained and less permeable chalk or lime mudstones. The separation of the data from the Erslev wells at even lower permeabilities is probably due to diagenetic effects linked to the location immediately above a saltdome induced structure.

The correlation of lower porosities with lower permeabilities for the chalk family is due to compaction and minor cementation. For the limestones the similar trend is caused by more pervasive cementation processes linked to the specific lithology originally containing higher fractions of material with unstable mineralogy (aragonite, Hi-Mg-calcite and silica) which were dissolved and subsequently precipitated as cement in certain layers in the rock formations at relatively shallow burial.



Figure 33. A single coccolith sitting on a human hair to illustrate the very small grainsize of the matrix particles in a typical chalk lithology. Close-up to the right.

Figur 33. En enkelt coccolith på et menneske hår (til venstre), for illustration af den meget lille kornstørrelse af matrix partikler i en typisk kridtbjergart og nærbillede af coccolithen til højre.

Chalk is a fine-grained, sedimentary rock composed primarily of skeletal debris from calcareous nannofossils, mainly coccoliths, with minor contributions from foraminifera, calcispheres and macrofossil fragments. Coccoliths range in size from 2 to 15 μ m (Figs 33, 34).

In the living algal organism, a number of coccoliths interlock to form a spherical or ellipsoid external shell, the coccosphere. Normally the coccosphere will fall apart during the sedimentation stage, or due to subsequent bioturbation, but occasionally coccospheres from robust coccolith species survive in the sediment. Each coccolith is composed of a number of calcite crystals of varying sizes $(0.2-3 \mu m)$ and shapes. When a coccolith disintegrates the elements are released as chalk particles (Figure 34).



Figure 34. The gradual disintegration of a coccosphere into chalk matrix material. From Bromley (1979).

Figur 34. Illustration af den gradvise nedbrydning af coccosphærer til kalk matrix materiale (Fra Bromley 1979).





Figure 35. Photos of well preserved coccoliths, some with slight diagenetic overgrowth, and micron-sized particles forming the matrix. From the uppermost Maastrichtian chalk, Stevns Quarry.

Figur 35. Fotos af velbevarede coccolither, nogle med diagenetisk overvoksninger, og mikrometer størrelse partikler, der udgør matrix. Fra det yngste Maastrichtien fra Stevns Kridtbrud. The typical chalk is composed of varying proportions of intact coccoliths, coccolith fragments and single coccolith elements (particles) (Figure 35) mixed with subordinate amounts of microfossils and macrofossil fragments.

6.5.2 Hydraulic properties (matrix and fractures) of the chalk

Very few measurements have been reported on fracture hydraulic conductivity from Danish investigations on hydraulic properties in chalk and limestone. The available data for this is summarized in the chapters below. The hydrogeology of the deeper parts of the chalk section in Denmark (>100 meters) is not well known, and the only area contributing with information about hydraulic properties of the chalk formations at depth is the Mors island in Northern Jylland (Gosk, 1981). These results are reported and discussed in a later chapter.

6.5.3 Investigations in the Greater Copenhagen area

The water supply in the Copenhagen area is based exclusively on local and regional groundwater aquifers at depths down to 100 m, and since the abstraction rate is larger than the sustainable resource, protection of the groundwater resource is crucial. Primarily glacial meltwater sand and Danian limestones are used for abstraction. In lithostratigraphic terms, the Danian limestones belong to the Stevns Klint and København Limestone Formations (Bryozoan Limestone unit and København Limestone).

No well tests have been conducted in the interval 400–800 meters and the amount of natural fractures is very limited for chalk found deeper than 300 m, thus the effective permeability of the chalk is unknown, but probably very low (Kristensen et al., 2017).

An analysis of 124 flow-logs conducted both in chalk and Danian limestones indicates that the major part of the influx of fresh water into the boreholes takes place in the upper 5–10 m, i.e. just below the base of the Quaternary. Throughout the Danian limestone formations, several levels with water influx are encountered. In the underlying chalk, being of Maastrichtian and Campanian age, the number of influx levels and the amount of influx decreases. Deeper than c. 70 meters below base Danian, only very limited influx occurs (Bonnesen et al. 2009, Larsen et al. 2006). The transition zone between fresh and salt groundwater is typically located at the base of the Danian limestones or at an internal marl layer a few meters down into the chalk. Exceptionally salty groundwater has entered higher stratigraphic levels in coastal areas and fault zone areas (Klitten et al. 2006). Thus, the chalk in general holds only limited groundwater resources.

It is important to note that the National Water Resources Model for Denmark (usually called DK-model) has a focus on the hydrological conditions in the uppermost layers that are of importance for groundwater extraction. The model was developed by the Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland to advance the assessment of groundwater quantitative status accounting for interactions with surface water and anthropogenic changes, such as extraction strategies and land use, as well as climate change.

The model offers an overall 3D representation of the hydrological circle in the study area down to about 100 meters below mean sea level and can therefore contribute with input regarding flow in the freshwater zone. However, the scale and the scope the DK-model makes it a generalised model for water balance estimations and therefore results in some limitations e.g. for layers deeper than 100 meters and in the representation of the very local hydrology at specific fault zones etc.

The Tune-1 well (DGU Nr. 207.3841) south of Copenhagen has been used for a conceptual model (Kjøller et al. 2006) for the hydraulics in the uppermost 50 meters based on investigations for a master-project at M&R DTU (Madsen, 2003). Flow-logs, optical televiewer data for fracture densities and pumping tests are included for the interpretation. The Danian lime-stone is divided into three zones (Figure 36). Uppermost zone 1 is 26.7 meters thick and supplies 37% of the inflowing water. The zone has an average bulk hydraulic conductivity of $1.9^{*10^{-5}}$ m/s (1900 mD= 1.9 Darcy). Below is a thin but very conductive layer (Zone 2) of 4.7 meters thickness taking 55% of the inflow and average bulk hydraulic conductivity of $1.6^{*10^{-4}}$ m/s (16000 mD = 16 Darcy). At the bottom of the formation is a 18.7 meters thick layer (Zone 3) taking 4% of the water inflow and average bulk hydraulic conductivity of $3.0^{*10^{-6}}$ m/s (300 mD). The remaining 4% of inflow water is coming from the underlying chalk formation having very low conductivity. It is therefore ignored in the conceptual model applied for this specific case study, but it is indicated to have conductivity around $1.2^{*10^{-7}}$ m/s (12 mD), which is comparable to previously reported matrix permeabilities in the uppermost chalk layers. Similar interpretations have been made from the Karlstrup area (Jakobsen 1991).

Zone 1 1.9*10 ⁻⁵ m/s		
Zone 2		
1.6*10 ⁻⁴ m/s		
Zone 3 3.0*10 ⁻⁶ m/s		
Matrix		
1.2*10 ⁻⁷ m/s		

Figure 36. Conceptual hydraulic model layers for the Danian Limestones at the Tune-1 well showing the conductivity in the various zones. Combined thickness of the upper 3 layers is 40 meters. (Modified from Kjøller et al. 2006, illustration is based on data from Madsen, 2003).

Figur 36. Konceptuel hydraulisk model for lag i Danian kalken i Tune-1 boringen, der viser konduktivitet i de forskellige zoner. Den samlede tykkelsen af de øverste 3 lag i modellen er 40 meter (modificeret fra Kjøller et al. 2006, illustrationen er baseret på data fra Madsen, 2003).

6.5.4 Hydraulic parameters from deep well tests on Mors, North Jylland

Extensive hydraulic testing was carried out in wells in the 500 meters thick chalk package directly overlying the salt dome in a project investigating the potential for a storage facility for radioactive waste in a saltdome on the island of Mors in Northern Jylland.

The results from the Mors project where the chalk was penetrated and analysed also with hydraulic testing are summarized for in-situ transmissivity (Specific reports listed in section 9.1). The chalk package is situated on top of the Mors salt dome and might therefore have other structural characteristics than in other less deformed areas. The investigated area is situated above the concave part of the dome. If the halokinesis is stronger on the edge than in the centre of the dome, compressive force with a horizontal component may exist, giving rise to closure of the fractures. For detailed discussion of this subject see the original geological report (Gosk et al., 1981).

To investigate the sealing properties of the chalk overlying the Mors Salt Dome, 4 wells were drilled to a depth of 550 meters b.m.s. (below mean sea level), two on each drill site, in between the two deep test wells Erslev-1 and Erslev-2 that were drilled into the salt formation. The hydrogeological wells were numbered E1S, E2S, E3S and E4S. The summary here is based on the main report of the study (Gosk et al 1981).

The penetrated formations consist of clay, sand and gravel of Quaternary age to depth about 60 meters b.m.s. Below these depths the Upper Cretaceous formations consist of chalk and limestone of very fine-grained calcium carbonate of biogenetic origin with dominance of coccoliths and smaller amounts of foraminifera and other pelagic organisms. The upper part of the chalk formation is white, soft and friable. Below 350-400 meters b.m.s. the hardness increases. Marly layers or zones appear with increasing frequency downwards. The porosity varies between 45% in the upper part to about 15% at the bottom. Fractures have been detected from cores and impression packer tests as well as from log interpretations. The whole penetrated sequence comprises faults.

A physical recording of a few possibly open fractures from a depth of around 275 meters was reported (Andersen et al. 1981). The fractures were observed as an imprint in the rubber sleeve from a packer test tool and were estimated to have a dip of approximately 20 degrees.

Laboratory measurements of permeability and porosity on core plugs of the chalk formation from the wells E1-2-3-4S were carried out by DGU, Risø and Institute of Geological Sciences Wallingford, England. The core plug permeabilities are measured with gas permeameter and the values have been converted to fluid permeability with an empirical relation (Mortensen 1998) to enable comparison to the hydraulic test results (Figure 37).



Figure 37. Figure showing comparison of the matrix measured permeabilities from core material from the Erslev wells and pumping test interpretations of interval permeabilities. The core measured gas permeabilities have been converted to fluid permeability for this comparison. Permeability of 1 mD equals a conductivity of 1*10⁻⁸ m/sec.

Figur 37. Sammenligning af matrix målte permeabiliteter fra kerne materiale fra Erslev boringerne og interval permeabiliteter tolkede fra pumpetest. De kerne målte gas permeabiliteter er blevet omregnet til væske permeabilitet til denne sammenligning. En permeabilitet på 1 mD svarer til en konduktivitet 1*10⁻⁸ m/sec. The similarity in permeability levels for matrix measurements and pumping tests indicates that fractures play a very limited role in the inflow to the wells during test pumping. The permeability of 1 mD is equal to conductivity $1*10^{-8}$ m/sec.

6.5.5 Conclusions on the Erslev study on hydraulic parameters in chalk

The chalk package is situated on top of the Mors salt dome, and this structural setting may have resulted in a higher number of fractures compared to chalk in less deformed areas. However, the fractures in the chalk/limestone section, observed from cores, impression packers and geophysical logs do not seem to contribute significantly to the transmissivity (permeability times thickness) of the tested intervals, despite of the fact that the fracture-flow normally is the dominating part of the total flow in a low-permeable fractured formation. Therefore, the fractures seem to be closed.

The relatively large intervals tested (generally 50 meters) do not allow detection of fracture flow in the borehole. However, the labelled slug test, which gives more detailed information about the permeability distribution of the formation, should be able to detect a significant fracture flow, but an indication of such phenomena is not found. (A labelled slug test was run in E1S only).

The hydraulic conductivity values calculated from pumping tests have been controlled by using different methods of calculations by comparison with results from laboratory measurements, and a number of alternative, hydraulic in-situ testing methods (labelled slug test, injection tests and slug tests).

Various processes which may have caused the closure of the fractures have been considered, i.e. mud invasion during drilling, collapse of fracture due to drop in pressure produced by pumping, natural cementation or clay fill and lateral compression of the formation above the concave part of the salt dome caused by halokinetic movements. Based on the hydraulic tests only, the lateral compression seems to give the most reliable explanation for the closing of the fractures and the low permeability of the chalk in all 4 wells drilled on top of the Mors salt dome.

6.6 Conductivity interpreted from the freshwater/saltwater interface

A study of the salinity profile in selected representative wells through the chalk package was used to interpret the amount of vertical fluid exchange through the chalk (Bonnesen et al. 2009). The investigations outline the freshwater zone and the transition into the connate water salinities at deeper levels (Figure 38). It therefore also shows that groundwater interests are restricted to the uppermost 50-100 meters.



Figure 38. Depth profiles of chloride and δ 180 porewater concentration for three different wells (From Bonnesen et al. 2009).

Figur 38. Eksempel på ændringer i klorid indhold og isotop sammensætning ved stigende dybder i tre forskellige boringer (Fra Bonnesen et al. 2009).

Fluid temperature logging in the studied boreholes indicates upward flow across the chalkmarl layers, and these flows have been verified by heat-pulse measurements. In Stevns-1, indications of upward groundwater flow were observed in a section from 410 to 190 meters b.g.s. (below ground surface) and across a chalk-marl section at 100 meters b.g.s. (Figure 39). Vertical hydraulic heads were measured in this borehole using a packer system, and the largest gradient was 0.14 measured over the chalk-marl layers that are found at depths of 300 meters b.g.s. Using a hydraulic conductivity of the chalk-marl layer of 1*10⁻⁹ m/s (equal to 0.1 mD) and compared to clean matrix chalk permeabilities of 0.5-1.5 mD, this corresponds to a vertical upward particle velocity in the order of a few cm per year. The pressure difference detected in layers below and above the marly layers even at the deep levels in Stevns-1 points to that no fracture flow is present to cause equilibration of the natural pressure differences. An assessment of the implication of this advective transport of solute compared to diffusive transport can be done using the Peclet number (Bear 1972; Appelo and Postma 2005). A diffusive spreading of a solvent is typically in the order of 25 cm/year (Appelo and Postma 2005) and solute transport in the chalk and chalk-marl layers must therefore predominantly take place by diffusion.



Figure 39. Natural gamma radiation and fluid temperature in Stevns-1 borehole. Variations from the geothermal gradient indicate sections with an upward flow in the open borehole. The arrows illustrate in and out flow zones. Depths with heat pulse measurements are also indicated.

Figur 39. Naturlig gamma-stråling og fluid temperatur i Stevns-1 borehul. Lokale variationer fra den geo-thermale gradient viser sektioner med opadgående strømning. Pilene illustrerer strømning i de forskellige zoner. Varme puls målinger i forskellige dybder er også vist.

6.6.1 Other studies

As mentioned in the previous chapters the amount of data on the presence of fractures and their effects on flow in deeper levels in the chalk/limestone sequence in Denmark is very limited. Therefore, we have included references and summaries of results from studies in other areas where similar lithologies occur.

6.6.2 Examples on flow in U.K. chalk formations

Investigations both in field tests and laboratory measurements on chalk in the U.K. (Price et al., 1977, Price et al. 1982, Price 1987) have shown that high permeability in the chalk lithology is related to fractures and secondary porosity. The interstitial (matrix) permeability of the chalk is very low, in the order of 1*10⁻⁶ to 1*10⁻⁷ m/sec. (100 to 10 mD), and the total hydraulic conductivity 10-100 times higher (1-10 Darcy). These high values have been recorded down to depths of 70-80 meters. The matrix permeabilities reported are comparable to values in the Danian limestones in the Danish aquifers. The UK chalk aquifers are mainly developed in older carbonates than the Danish, i.e. dating from the Santonian, Coniacian and Turonian periods, but the lithologies are somewhat comparable to the wackestones of the Danish Danian carbonates.

Measurements made in the Candover Valley, Hants, using packer systems (Price et al. 1977, 1982) indicate hydraulic conductivity values ranging from 0.02 m/day (corresponding to $3*10^{-7}$ m/s, 30 mD) to more than 2 m/day ($3*10^{-5}$ m/s, 3000 mD), some of the highest permeabilities occurring in the Chalk rock. Measurements made during investigations for the proposed Channel Tunnel, ranged from less than $1*10^{-3}$ m/day (about $1*10^{-8}$ m/s, 1 mD) to more than 4 m/day (more than $6*10^{-5}$ m/s, 6000 mD). Similar investigations during tunnelling trials at Chinnor, gave conductivity values ranging from 0.07 m/day ($1*10^{-6}$ m/s, 100 mD) to 9.5 m/day ($1.5*10^{-4}$ m/s, 15000 mD) with a mean value of 1.3 m/day ($1.8*10^{-5}$ m/s, 1800 mD). The Chinnor investigations were at depths of less than 30 meters below ground level.

At significantly greater depths there is evidence that the primary fracture component decreases in importance. Investigations at S. Killingholme, S. Humberside, for the construction of caverns to store liquefied petroleum gas (LPG), showed that the chalk at cavern level (180-190 meters below ground level) is largely intact and the minor joints are closed by secondary calcite precipitations. Obvious near-vertical open joints are generally spaced several metres apart. At this depth the bulk of the chalk (which is in the lower part of the Middle Chalk and the top of the Lower Chalk corresponding to Cenomanian-Turonian) has in situ permeabilities of the order of 0.1 mD (less than 1*10⁻⁹ m/s). In zones where joints are concentrated, the permeability is of the order of 1000 mD (1*10⁻⁵ m/s).

6.6.3 Permeability in chalk oil/gas fields in the North Sea

Because there are very few data available for onshore locations, one example from an offshore hydrocarbon reservoir is included here to supplement the view on the variations. An example of reported bulk permeability from a hydrocarbon reservoir, mainly attributed to a fracture system is from the Ekofisk Field in the Norwegian sector. Here test permeabilities up to 1.5*10⁻⁶ m/sec. (150 mD) is reported (Brown 1987). Fracturing is a general phenomenon in this field and a map of permeabilities from 1 to more than 80 mD (8*10⁻⁷ m/s) shows a distribution of permeabilities corresponding to structural deformation and fracture intensity (Brown 1987). In most settings the hydrocarbon-filled chalk reservoirs are on top of salt induced domal structures, and might therefore still be in a tensional regime, promoting some of the fractures to be in an open state. It should be noted that the difference in burial depth and diagenesis between the shallow chalk and the offshore example can limit the comparative value. Also, in many cases the chalk forms efficient seals for hydrocarbon accumulations.

6.7 Porosity and permeability depth trends

The compaction and cementation processes have modified the primary high porosity of the various carbonates. The effect of these processes is a general decrease of porosity with depth but also depending on the primary lithology, grainsize, mineralogy, clay content. Intervals with high clay content are more easily compacted resulting in lower porosity and permeability compared to chalk and limestone without clay at same burial depths. Plot of porosity versus depth from different wells show overall decreasing porosity with depth (Figure 40). A decrease with depth is also obvious for the matrix permeability and for the well tests available from the Erslev wells (Figure 41).



Figure 40. Porosity/depth trend for core measurements in selected wells is shown. The deviation towards low porosity at around 100 meters depth in the Stevns-1 well is caused by high clay content (marl) in the chalk at this level.

Figur 40. Porøsitet mod dybde vist for kerne målte data fra udvalgte boringer. De lave porøsitetsværdier ved ca. 100 meter i Stevns-1 skyldes tilstedeværelse af ler (mergel) i dette niveau.



Figure 41. Permeability with depth including data from both the Erslev wells and the Stevns-1 well. The deviation towards low permeability at around 100 meters depth in the Stevns-1 well is caused by a high clay content in the chalk at that level.

Figur 41. Sammenligning af permeabilitet mod dybde for Erslev boringerne og Stevns-1 boringen. Afvigelse mod lav permeabilitet ved ca. 100 meters dybde for Stevns-1 data skyldes ler-indhold i dette niveau.

7. Transport of radionuclides in chalk

There are only a few studies directly addressing the transport of radionuclides in Danish chalks.

Carlsen et al. (1981) used batch experiments and directly measured the relative transport velocity for some ions, known to occur in the Danish nuclear waste, in chalk core samples from the Erslev boreholes. It was found that there was a retardation of the cationic species Cs^+ (cesium(I)), Sr^{2+} (strontium(II)), Co^{2+} (cobolt(II)) and Eu^{3+} (europium(III)), while the anionic species CI^{-} (chloride) and $TcO_{4^{-}}$ (pertechnetate) were not retarded compared to water moving through the material. Strontium was used to represent other group II elements such as barium and radium, and cobalt was assumed to behave similarly to other divalent metal ions e.g. iron and nickel. Europium was included as a reasonable representative for trivalent actinides such as americium (III) and plutonium (III). The retardation factor (R), meaning the transport time relative to water, can be estimated as R~(1 + 4.2·K_D), K_D being the ratio between what is bound to the solids and what is dissolved in the water (the factor: 4.2 assumes a porosity of 0.3 and a bulk density of 1.8 g/cm³). The mean K_D values determined by Carlsen et al. are shown in Table 2. The K_D values vary with the NaCl concentration, which is a simple illustration of the influence of other compounds present in the system. The whole concept of a K_D value is a highly simplified approach that does not take the effect of competing and complexing ions (including H⁺/OH⁻ i.e. pH) into account.

Table 2. Mean K_D values (Carlsen et al. 1981).

[NaCl]:	1M	5M
K _D (Eu)	4500	4800
K _D (Co ²⁺)	31	27
K _D (Sr ²⁺)	2.5	2.3
K _D (Cs+)	1.5	0.9

Tabel 2: K_D middelværdier (Carlsen et al. 1981).

An example of this was the finding in the study of Carlsen et al. (1981), that the K_D value/retardation of the divalent cations was lower in the presence of EDTA, which forms strong complexes with especially divalent ions. Similarly, the presence of dissolved organic matter (DOC) or other complex forming ions could lower the retardation, but there are also examples of complexes that bind more strongly to the surfaces than the free ions.

Hubert et al. (2006) used an indirect approach where they studied the distribution of uranium (U) and thorium (Th) isotopes in a chalk aquifer system in France. Based on their measurements they derived retardation factors of 10-35 for U and 10,000-200,000 for Th.

Considering the relatively few studies of chalk, the literature on the sorption/co-precipitation of radionuclides on/with calcite, the main mineral in chalk, has been examined. It is worth noting that the small amounts of clay, sulfide and Fe-oxide minerals that are also present in

the chalk may have sorption properties that for some ions will have greater importance for the actual sorption than the calcite in the chalk. It is therefore important to characterize the mineralogy of potential repository rocks to evaluate the sorption capacity for the nuclides in the radioactive waste.

When uranium is present in its oxidized state (U(VI) as uranyl ions, it forms a neutral complex with Ca^{2+} and $CO_3^{2^-}$: $Ca_2UO_2(CO_3)_3^0$, increasing the mobility of U(VI) (Dong et al., 2005). This is supported by Stewart et al., 2010 who find that pH ~5 and a low Ca concentration is optimal for uranium sorption, as U(VI) is not bound in the complex.

In reduced form, actinides, such as thorium (Th), uranium(U), Neptunium (Np), plutonium (Pu) og americium (Am) have a relatively high tendency to be incorporated in calcite crystals, implying that their mobility will be limited in a calcite dominated rock such as chalk. In contrast, U(VI), Cs(I), Sr(II) and Ra(II) will have a much lower tendency to be incorporated in the calcite (Curti, 1999). Therefore, they would be expected to be more mobile in chalk, unless they sorb to other components in the chalk. This could be the explanation for the slightly elevated retardation seen for Sr(II) in the Carlsen et al. study on the Erslev samples. Lead (Pb) also has a tendency of being incorporated into calcite (Meece & Benninger, 1992).

The number of fractures in chalk seems to be very limited at depth, however, the transport of radionuclides with colloids, specifically bentonite colloids eroded from bentonite backfill, could be an issue if fractures are present in the repository rock. Tran et al. (2019) carried out a study using brackish water, which causes flocculation of the clay particles, and found that the net transport rate of U(VI) and Cs(I) was not affected by bentonite colloids, while Cerium(III), used as an analogue for reactive actinides in the reduced redox state, was effectively immobilized.

8. Summary

In Denmark, the Upper Cretaceous and Danian sediments of chalk, limestone, and marl are referred to as the Chalk Group which occurs widespread at 500 meters depth in the Danish subsurface. The thickness of the Chalk Group varies from several hundred meters in most areas to several kilometers in the Danish Basin in the central-northern part of Jylland and Nordsjælland. The depth to the top of the Chalk Group varies from ground level to a few tens of meters below terrain in large parts of Denmark and with a maximum depth around 1000 meters in Vestjylland. The chalk of the Chalk Group is to varying degree "over-compacted" relatively to the present burial depth due to erosion of significant amounts of Paleocene sed-iments that were removed during periods of uplift and erosion in the Neogene time.

Carbonates and marl from the Chalk Group are present in most of the Danish onshore subsurface in the depth interval from just below surface to more than 500 meters depth. Therefore, carbonates and/or marl will constitute a major part of the geological barriers either providing barriers in the ECZ or providing barriers both as the host rock and as the ECZ.

Sediments in the Danian limestone in the uppermost part of the Chalk Group are dominated by calcarenites, calcareous mudstones and bryozoan limestones whereas the Cretaceous chalk consists mainly of a fine-grained matrix of coccoliths. Some intervals, including the Rørdal and Boesdal Members, are argillaceous and referred to as marls comprising smectite clay, quartz, and minor amounts of illite and analcime.

Sediments in the uppermost 0-50 meters of the Chalk Group have been described in large detail both from outcrops occurring along coastal cliffs, from quarries, and from water wells and deep wells, as this interval comprise important reservoirs for abstraction of drinking water in large parts of Denmark. Geotechnical and geological information exist from investigations related to major engineering construction projects such as the metro in København and large bridges and tunnels. Detailed information on rock properties from deeper sections of the chalk section is sparse and unevenly distributed. Data on rock properties at depths around 500 meters exist from a few wells only including the Erslev wells drilled on top of a salt diapir in northern Jylland, and some wells drilled at Stevns for scientific purposes.

The uppermost 0-10 meters of the chalk is intensively fractured and crushed due to subglacial deformation. Fractures are both vertical and horizontal and where they form a well-connected fracture system, the chalk and limestones have a high hydraulic conductivity. Information from depths greater than 20-50 meters is sparse due to scarcity of drill cores and well logs. However, the available data show a consistent decrease in matrix porosity and permeability with increasing depth due to compaction, cementation, recrystallisation of calcite, and generally increasing amounts of clay in the lower parts of the Chalk Group.

Estimates of vertical transmissivity in the deeper parts of a representative, undisturbed section of chalk, exist from the Stevns-1 well. The estimates are based on salinity profiles and temperature logging. The results show that diffusion is the dominant vertical transport mode for solutes at deeper levels which will result in extremely slow transport of radionuclides that are not retarded in the repository. In sections with marl layers, it is observed that clay rich layers (marl) may have lower permeability/hydraulic conductivity than the pure chalk, and the marl may form vertical pressure and flow barriers.

Studies of retardation of specific elements in the calcite dominated chalk and in the associated clay minerals indicate a high potential for sustained adhesion (sorption), depending also on the nature of the nuclides and the groundwater geochemistry. Better knowledge about the sorption capacities of the Chalk Group is one of the requirements to the detailed geological investigations that are to be carried out in the next phase of the geological repository project.

9. References

- Ahlborn, M. 2008: Et sedimentologisk studie af kridtlagserien i boringen Rørdal-2 fra Nordjylland, samt detaljerede leranalyser af mergellag i boringerne Rørdal-2, Stevns-1 og Karlslunde-1, Danmark. Cand. scient. thesis, University of Copenhagen.
- Andersen, L.J., Byrne, L. and Frykman, P. 1981: Results from Impression Packer technique for location of fissures in boreholes in white chalk, Mors, Denmark. Proceedings of the workshop on Siting of Radioactive Waste Repositories in Geological Formations. Nuclear Energy Agency, OECD, p. 209-217. Paris, 19-22 May 1981.
- ANDRA, 2005: Evaluation of the feasibility of a geological repository in an argillaceous formation. The geological medium: the Meuse/Haute-Mare site. Dossier 2005 Argile, 57-105.
- Appelo, C.A.J. and Postma, D. 2005: Geochemistry, groundwater and pollution, 2nd edn. Balkema, Rotterdam, The Netherlands.
- Barton, N., Grimstad, E., Aas, G., Opsahl, O.A., Bakken, A., Pedersen, L. & Johansen,E.D. 1994: Norwegian method of tunnelling. Norges Geotekniske Institutt. 194, 1-11.
- Bear, J. 1972: Dynamics of fluids in porous media. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 764 pp.
- Blem, H. 2002: Carlsbergforkastningen Historie, placering og betydning, I: Frederiksen,
 J.K., Eriksen, F.S., Hansen, H.K., Knudsen, C., Jørgensen, M.E., Møller, H.M.F. og
 Brendstrup, J. (eds.): Ingeniørgeologiske forhold i København. DGF Bulletin 19, 61-82.
- Bloomfield, J.P. 1999: FRACFLOW Geological State-of-the Art Review. British Geological Survey Report WD/99/13.
- Bonnesen, E.P., Larsen, F., Sonnenborg, T.O., Klitten, K. & Stemmerik, L. 2009: Deep salt water in Chalk of North-West Europe: origin, interface, characteristics and development over geological time. Hydrogeology Journal v.17, 1643–1663.
- Brettmann, K.L., Jensen, K.H. and Jakobsen, R. 1993. Tracer test in fractured chalk, 2: Numerical analysis. Nordic Hydrology 24 (4): 275-296.
- Bromley, R.G. 1979: Chalk and bryozoan limestone: facies, sediments and depositional environments. In: Christensen, W.K. & Birkelund, T. (eds): II. Cretaceous/Tertiary Boundary Events, Symposium, Copenhagen, 16–32. University of Copenhagen.
- Brown, D. 1987. The flow of water and displacement of hydrocarbons in fractured chalk reservoirs. In Fluid Flow in Sedimentary Basins and Aquifers (eds. J. C. Goff and B. P. Williams) (Geological Society London) Special Publication 34, 201-218.
- Carlsen, L., Pedersen, W. B., Jensen, B. S., & Bo, P. (1981). Permeability, porosity, dispersion-, diffusion-, and sorption characteristics of chalk samples from Erslev, Mors, Denmark. Roskilde: Risø National Laboratory. Denmark. Forskningscenter Risoe. Risoe-R, No. 451.

COVRA, 2017: Opera Safety Case. Covra, 146 pp.

Curti, E. 1999: Coprecipitation of radionuclides with calcite: estimation of partition coefficients based on a review of laboratory investigations and geochemical data. Applied Geo chemistry v.14, 433-445.

Danish Health Authority, 2020: Responsible and Safe Management of Radioactive waste, Denmark, 68 pp.

Dansk Dekommissionering 2020: https://www.dekom.dk/affaldshaandtering/#affald-1

Dansk Dekommissionering, 2021: Generiske depotkoncepter – indledende overvejelser. Notat 6 sider. Publikationer - Dansk Dekommissionering https://dekom.dk/publikationer/

- Danish Parliament, 2018: Parliamentary resolution B 90: Proposal for parliamentary resolution on a long-term solution for Denmark's radioactive waste, 11 pp.
- Dong, W., Ball, W.P., Liu, C., Wang, Z., Stone, A.T., Bai, J. and Zachara, J. M., 2005: Influence of Calcite and Dissolved Calcium on Uranium(VI) Sorption to a Hanford Subsurface Sediment, Environmental Science & Technology, vol. 39, no. 20, 7949-7955
- Erlström, M., Thomas, S.A., Deeks, N. & Sivhed, U. 1997: Structure and tectonic evolution of the Tornquist Zone and adjacent sedimentary basins in Scania and the southern Bal tic Sea area. Tectonophysics 271, 191–215.
- EU, 2011: Rådets Direktiv 2011/70/EURATOM af 19. juli 2011 om fastsættelse af en fællesramme for ansvarlig og sikker håndtering af brugt nukleart brændsel og radioaktivt affald, L 199, 48-56.
- Fabricius, I.L., Gommesen, L, Krogsbøll, A and Olsen, D. 2008: Chalk porosity and sonic velocity versus burial depth: Influence of fluid pressure, hydrocarbons, and mineralogy. AAPG Bulletin; February 2008; v. 92; no. 2; 201-223
- Fallesen, J. 1995: Stratigraphy and structure of the Danian Limestone on Amager, examined with geophysical investigations especial with regard to the Carlsberg Fault. University of Copenhagen, Geological Institute (upubliceret speciale).
- Foged, N., Larsen, G., Larsen, B. & Thomsen, E. 1995: An overview on engineering geological conditions at Storebælt. The interplay between Geotechnical Engineering and Engineering Geology. Volume 5, Storebælt and Øresund. Danish Geotechnical Society-Bulletin 11, 7-30.
- Frykman, P. 2001: Spatial variability in petrophysical properties in Upper Maastrichtian chalk outcrops at Stevns Klint, Denmark. Marine and Petroleum Geology 18, 1041-1062.
- Galsgaard, J., Rohde, M., Jakobsen, P.R. & Jakobsen, R. 2014: Strømning og stoftransport i kalklagene på den københavnske vestegn. Geologisk og hydrologisk vidensopsamling og typemodel. GEO projekt nr. 37208, Rapport 1, 2014-06-19. 97 pp.
- GEO. 2014. Strømning og stoftransport i kalklagene på den københavnske vestegn. Geologiske og hydrologisk vidensopsamling og typemodel (Text in Danish). GEO projekt nr. 37208, Rapport 1.
- GERDA: https://www.geus.dk/produkter-ydelser-og-faciliteter/data-og-kort/national-geofysisk-database-gerda/
- Gosk, E., Bull, N. and Andersen, L.J. 1981. Hydrogeological Main Report, Geological Survey of Denmark, April 1981. (for background reports from this study at Mors see Appendix 1 with full list of reports).
- Gravesen, P. 1994: Geologisk kort over Danmark, 1:50.000. Kortbladet 1312 I Odense, Geologisk basisdatakort. DGU Kortserie nr. 36.
- Gravesen, P., 2016: De geologiske forhold I ca. 500 m's dybde. Foreløpig redegørelse udarbejdet på eksisterende data. GEUS-NOTAT nr. 05-VA-16-08. Til: Uddannelses- og Forskningsministeriet V/ Merete Storr-Hansen og Ole Kastbjerg Nielsen, 24 pp.
- Harlou, R., Ullmann, C.V., Korte, C., Lauridsen, B.W., Schovsbo, N.H., Surlyk, F., Thibault, N., Stemmerik, L., Geochemistry of Campanian–Maastrichtian brachiopods from the Rørdal-1 core (Denmark): Differential responses to environmental change and diagenesis, Chemical Geology (2016), doi: 10.1016/j.chemgeo.2016.08.039
- Hubert, A., Bourdon, B., Pili, E., Meynadier, L., 2006: Transport of radionuclides in an unconfined chalk aquifer inferred from U-series disequilibria. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 70 (2006) 5437–5454.
- IAEA, 2011: Geological Disposal Facilities for Radioactive Waste. IAEA Safety Standards. Specific Safety Guide No. SSG-14, 101 pp.

- IAEA, 2018a: Roadmap for Developing a Geological Disposal Programme, IAEA NUCLEAR ENERGY SERIES; Draft, 83 pp.
- IAEA, 2018b: The Management of Site Investigations for Radioactive Waste Disposal Facilities. IAEA NUCLEAR ENERGY SERIES; Draft, 263 pp.
- Jakobsen, F. and Madsen, L. 1996. Chalk outcrops North Jutland, Denmark. Technical Report for Joint Chalk Research Program IV, Project no. 2. Danmarks og Grønlands Geologiske Undersøgelse, Rapport 1996/57.
- Jakobsen, P.R. 1994: Geological description of the Lernacken II test pit. DGU/PRJ 08.02.94, 3 pp.
- Jakobsen, P.R. 1997: Koralkalk i Øresund. Geologisk Nyt, v.4, 3-5.
- Jakobsen, P.R., Wilken, U & Lund, N.S. 1997: Koralkalk I Øresund. Feltrapport over dykkergeologisk undersøgelse af udgravninger i Øresund. Danmarks og Grønlands Geologiske Undersøgelse Rapport 1997/150. 55 pp.
- Jakobsen, P.R. & Klitten, K. 1999: Fracture Systems and Groundwater Flow in the København Limestone Formation. Nordic Hydrology, 30 (4/5), 1999, 301-316.
- Jakobsen, P.R., Fallesen, J. and Knudsen, C. 2002: Strukturer i den Københavnske undergrund – folder, forkastninger og sprækker. Danish Geotechnical Society Bulletin. 19, 19-29.
- Jakobsen, P.R. & Pedersen, S.A.S., 2013: Geological Map of Denmark 1:50 000, Hals. Denmark: Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland.
- Jakobsen, P.R., Nielsen, A.M. & Pedersen, S.A.S., 2013: Geological Map of Denmark 1:50 000, Mariager. Denmark: Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland.
- Jakobsen, P.R., Rohde, M.M. & Sheldon, E., 2016: Structures and stratigraphy of the Danian limestone, eastern Sjælland, Denmark. Review of Survey activities 2016. Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland Bulletin 38, 21–24.
- Jakobsen, R. 1991. Hydraulik og stoftransport I en opsprækket kalkbjergart. Rapport H9. Lossepladsprojektet. Miljøstyrelsen, Miljøministeriet. 72 pp.
- Jakobsen, R., Jensen, K.H. and Brettmann, K.L. 1993. Tracer test in fractured chalk, 1. Experimental design and results. Nordic Hydrology 24, v.4, 263-274.
- Japsen, P. & Langtofte, C. 1991: Geological Map of Denmark, 1:400 000 'Base Chalk and the Chalk Group.
- Japsen, P. 1992: Uplift in late Cretaceous and Tertiary in northern Denmark. Dansk Geologisk Forening, Årsskrift for 1990-1991, 169-182.
- Japsen, P. 1993: Influence of Lithology and Neogene Uplift on Seismic Velocities in Denmark: Implications for Depth Conversion of Maps. The American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin. v. 77.2, 194-211.
- Japsen, P., 1998. Regional velocity-depth anomalies, North Sea Chalk: a record of overpressure and Neogene uplift and erosion. AAPG Bulletin 82, 2031–2074.
- Japsen, P. & Bidstrup, T. 1999: Quantification of late Cenozoic erosion in Denmark based on sonic data and basin modellin. Bulletin of the Geological Society of Denmark, 46, v.1, 169-182.
- Japsen, P., Green, P.F., Nielsen, L.H., Rasmussen, E.S. & Bidstrup, T. 2007: Mesozoic-Cenozoic exhumation events in the eastern North Sea Basin: a multi-disciplinary study based on palaeothermal, palaeoburial, stratigraphic and seismic data. Basin Research 10.1111/j.1365-2117.
- Japsen, P., 2017. Sonic velocity of chalk, sandstone and marine shale controlled by effective stress: Velocity-depth anomalies as a proxy for vertical movements, Gondwana Research, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gr.2017.04.01

- Jensen L.P. 2007: Grundvandsstrømning ved mandehoved, Stevns. Integration af loganalyse, seismisk brøndkorrelation og –inversion i en hydrogeologisk model. Upubliceret kandidatspeciale, Det Naturvidenskabelige Fakultet, Københavns Universitet.
- JUPITER database. https://www.geus.dk/produkter-ydelser-og-faciliteter/data-og-kort/national boringsdatabase-jupiter/
- Kammann, J, Huebscher, C, Boldreel, LO & Nielsen, L 2016. High-resolution shear-wave seismics across the Carlsberg Fault zone south of Copenhagen: Implications for linking Mesozoic and late Pleistocene structures. Tectonophysics, vol. 682, 56-64.
- Kelstrup, N. 1995: Geologisk kort over Danmark 1:50.000. Kortbladet 1312 IV Tommerup, Geologisk basisdatakort. DGU Kortserie nr. 39.
- Kjøller, C., Jessen, S., Larsen, F., Postma, D. & Jakobsen, R. 2006: Binding af nikkel til og frigivelse fra naturlige kalksedimenter. Arbejdsrapport fra Miljøstyrelsen Nr. 8, 2006.
- Klitten, K., Ploug, C. & Olsen, H. 1995: Geophysical log-stratigraphy of the København Limestone. Proceedings of the Eleventh European Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, Copenhagen. Bulletin of the Danish Geotechnical Society 11, v. 5, 127-134.
- Klitten, K. 2003: Log-stratigrafi for Selandien Lellinge Grønsand formationen og Kerteminde Mergel formationen. DGF Grundvandsmøde 18. september 2003. Geologisk Tidsskrift 2003 hæfte 2, 20-22, København.
- Klitten, K., Larsen, F. & Sonnenborg, T.O. 2006: Saltvandsgrænsen i kalkmagasinerne i Nordøstsjælland, hovedrapport. GEUS rapport.
- Klitten, K. & Wittrup, C.S. 2006: Saltvandsgrænsen i kalkmagasinerne i Nordøstsjælland, delrapport 2. Undersøgelse af saltvandsgrænsen ved hjælp af geofysisk borehulslogging. GEUS rapport 2006/17.
- Knudsen, C. & Jakobsen, P.R. 2008: Pumping Power: Rock quality of limestone at Stevns & Rørdal. GEUS Report 2008/63. 23 pp.
- Knudsen, C., Schovsbo, N. & Mathiesen, A. 2010: Pumping Power: Rock quality of chalk in the Stevns-1 drill core and possibilities of finding higher strength chalk at depth here and at other locations in Denmark. GEUS Report 2010/45. 23 pp.
- Kristensen, L., Mathiesen, A., Nielsen, C. M., Bjerager, M., Ditlefsen, C. B., Møller, I., Rasmussen, P., Nielsen, L. H. & Kristensen, T. L., 2017: Examining the possibilities of establishing thermal storage in the chalk/limestone aquifer in the greater Copenhagen area Phase 1 of project HTES (High Temperature Energy Storage) Part of an EUDP Project (ID 64016-0014). Danmarks og Grønlands Geologiske Undersøgelse, Rapport 2017/22.
- Larsen, F., Sonneborg, T., Madsen, P., Ulbak, K., A. & Klitten K., 2006: Saltvandsgrænsen i kalkmagasinerne i Nordøstsjælland, delrapport 6. GEUS Rapport 2006/21.
- Larsen, G., Frederiksen, J., Villumsen, A., Fredericia, J., Gravesen, P., Foged, N., Knudsen
 B. & Baumann, J., 1988: Vejledning i Ingeniørgeologisk prøvebeskrivelse. Dansk Geoteknisk Forening, DGF-Bulletin Nr. 1, ISBN: 87-983058-2-4.
- Larsen, C., Ineson, J. & Boldreel, L.O. 2014. Seismic stratigraphy and sedimentary architecture of the Chalk Group in south-west Denmark. Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland Bulletin 31, 23–26.
- Lauridsen, B.W., Bjerager, M., & Surlyk, F. 2012: The middle Danian Faxe Formation a new lithostratigraphic unit and a rare taphonomic window into the Danian of Denmark. Bull. Geol. Soc. Den. 60, 47–60.
- Lieberkind, K., Bang, I., Mikkelsen, N. & Nygaard, E., 1982: Late Cretaceous and Danian limestone. In Michelsen, O. (ed.) Geology of the Danish Cen-tral Graben, Danmarks

Geologiske Undersøgelse B8, 49–62.

- Liboriussen, J., Ashton, P. & Tygesen, T., 1987: The tectonic evolution of the Fennoscandian Border Zone in Denmark. Tectonophysics, v. 137, 21-29.
- Madsen, P.R., 2003, Simulering af fersk-/saltvandsgrænsens stabilitet i opsprækkede kalkaflejringer – udvaskning af klorid fra opsprækket bryozokalk. Eksamensprojekt, Miljø & Ressourcer DTU, Danmarks Tekniske Universitet.
- Markussen, L.M. 2002: Grundvandsforhold i København, I: Frederiksen, J.K., Eriksen, F.S., Hansen, H.K., Knudsen, C., Jørgensen, M.E., Møller, H.M.F. og Brendstrup, J. (eds.): Ingeniørgeologiske forhold i København. DGF Bulletin 19, 2002, 165-182.
- Meece, D.E. and Benninger, L.K., 1992: The coprecipitation of Pu and other radionuclides with CaCO3. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta v. 57, 1447-1458.
- Mielby, S. & Sandersen, P., 2005: Indsatskortlægning i Nyborg-området. Om samspillet mellem geologiske stor-skalastrukturer og forekomsten af salt grundvand. ATV-møde om Jord- og grundvandsforurening 2005, 353-365

MHES, 2021: Ansvars- og rollefordeling for lokalisering af områder til geologiske undersøgelser vedrørende et slutdepot for radioaktivt affald. Uddannelses- of Forskningsstyrelsen, notat 2 pp.

- Mortensen, J., Engstrøm, F. & Lind, I., 1998: The relation among porosity, permeability, and specific surface of chalk from the Gorm field, Danish North Sea. SPE 31062, SPE Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering 1, 245-251.
- NAGRA, 2017: Technical Reports. www.nagra.ch/en/cat/publikationen. (Switzerland).
- NEA (Nuclear Energy Agency, OECD), 2005: Clay Club Catalogue of Characteristics of Argillaceous Rocks, No. 4436, 71 pp.
- NEA, 2008: Moving Forward with Geological Disposal of Radioactive waste. A Collective Statement by the NEA Radioactive Waste Management Committee (RWMC). OECD, NEA No. 6433, 21 pp.
- NEA, 2012: Geological Disposal of Radioactive Wastes: National Commitment, Local and Regional Involvement. A collective Statement of the OECD Nuclear Energy Agency" Radioactive Waste Management Committee", Adopted March 2011, NEA/RWM (2011)16, 17 pp.
- Nielsen, L.H. & Japsen, P., 1991: Deep wells in Denmark 1935 1990. Lithostratigraphic subdivision. DGU Serie A, nr 31. 178 pp.
- Nielsen, E. B., 1976: Petrographic study of Danian limestone from eastern Denmark (Core Copenhagen TUBA 13). Geol. Surv of Denm., II Series. No. 106, 26 pp.
- Nielsen, K.S., and Jørgensen, J.B., 2008: Lavpermeable horisonter I skrivekridtet Fase A. Faglig rapport, Miljøministeriet, Miljøcenter Aalborg. Team Grundvand.
- Nielsen, L., Boldreel, L. O., Hansen, T.M., Lykke-Andersen, H., Stemmerik, L., Surlyk, F., Thybo, H., 2011: Integrated seismic analysis of the Chalk Group in eastern Denmark — Implications for estimates of maximum palaeo-burial in southwest Scandinavia. Tectono-physics, v. 511, No. 1-2, 17.10.2011, 14-26.
- Nielsen, L., von Brockdorff, A.S., Bjerager, M. & Surlyk, F., 2009: Three-dimensional architecture and development of Danian bryozoan mounds at Limhamn, south-west Sweden, using ground-penetrating radar. Sedimentology v. 56, 695–708.
- Nilsson B and Gravesen P., 2018: Karst Geology and Regional Hydrogeology in Denmark. Advances in Karst Science, William B. White et al. (Eds): Karst Groundwater Contami nation and Public Health, Chapter 34, Springer.289-298. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-51070-5_34.
- Norling, E. & Bergström, J., 1987: Mesozoic and Cenozoic tectonic evolution of Scania,

southern Sweden. Tectonophysics, v. 137, 7-19.

- Norris, 2012: An introduction to geosphere research studies for the UK geological disposal program. Mineralogical Magazine vol.76 (8), 3105-3114.
- Olsen, H. & Nielsen, U.T., 2002: Logstratigrafisk inddeling af kalken i Københavns-området,
 I: Frederiksen, J.K., Eriksen, F.S., Hansen, H.K., Knudsen, C., Jørgensen, M.E., Møller,
 H.M.F. & Brendstrup, J. (eds.): Ingeniørgeologiske forhold i København. DGF Bulletin
 19, 2002, 35-42.
- ONDRAF/NIRAS & ANDRA (eds.) 2015: Clays in geological disposal systems. Brochure published on occasion of the 6th international conference "Clays in Natural and Engineered Barriers for Radioactive Waste Confinements", Brussels, Belgium, 8 pages. (Belgium).
- Pedersen, T. 2001: Selandien-aflejringerne på Midtsjælland og deres hydrologi. Baseret på geofysisk logtolkning. Upubl. Speciale, Geologisk Institut, Københavns Universitet.
- Pedersen, S.A.S. & Petersen K.S., 2012: Geological Map of Denmark 1:50 000, Hanstholm. Denmark: Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland.
- POSIVA, 2017a: Final Disposal. Selecting the Site: The Final Disposal at Olkiluoto. www.posiva.fi/en/final_Disposal. (Finland).
- POSIVA, 2017b: Geologic disposal of spent nuclear fuel in Olkiluoto, 12 pp.
- Price, M., Robertson, A. S., and Foster, S. S. D., 1977: Chalk permeability study of vertical variation using water injection tests and borehole logging. Water Services, v. 81, 603-610.
- Price, M., 1987. Fluid flow in the Chalk of England in fluid flow in sedimentary basins and aquifers. In: Goff, J.C., Williams B.P.J. (Eds.). Special Publication of the Geological Society of London, vol. 34. pp. 141–156.
- Price, M., Morris, B.L., & Robertson, A. S. 1982: A study of intergranular and fissure permeability in Chalk and Permian aquifers, using double-packer injection testing. Journal of Hydrology. 54, 401-23.
- Rosenbom, A.E. and Jakobsen, P.R., 2005: Infrared Thermography and Fracture Analysis of Preferential Flow in Chalk. Vadose Zone Journal 4, 271-280.
- SFOE, 2008: Sectoral plan for deep geological repositories. Conceptual Part. Department of the Environment, Transport, Energy and Communications DETEC. Swiss Federal Office of Energy SFOE, 89 pages.
- SKB (Svensk Kärnbränslehantering AB), 2007: RD&D Programme 2007. Programme for research, development and demonstration of methods for the management and disposal of nuclear waste, 510 pp.
- Stemmerik, L., Surlyk, F., Klitten, K., Rasmussen, S.L. & Schousbo, N., 2006: Shallow coredrilling of the Upper Cretaceous Chalk at Stevns Klint, Denmark. Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland Bulletin 10, 13–16.
- Stenestad, E., 1976: Københavnsområdets geologi især baseret på citybaneundersøgelserne. Geological Survey of Denmark, 3 Række 45, 1–149.
- Stewart, B.D., Mayes, M.A and Fendorf, S., 2010: Impact of Uranyl-Calcium-Carbonato Com plexes on Uranium(VI) Adsorption to Synthetic and Natural Sediments Environ. Sci. Technol. 2010, v. 44, 928–934
- Stisen S, Ondracek M, Troldborg L, Schneider RJM & van Til MJ., 2019: National Vandressource Model – Opstilling og kalibrering af DK-model2019. GEUS rapport 31/2019.
- Surlyk, F., Damholt, T. & Bjerager, M., 2006: Stevns Klint, Denmark: Uppermost Maastrichtian chalk, Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary, and lower Danian bryozoan mound complex. Bulletin of the Geological Society of Denmark, v. 54, 1-48.

- Surlyk, F., Stemmerik, L., Ahlborn, M., Harlou, R., Lauridsen, B.W., Rasmussen, S.L., Schovsbo, N., Sheldon, E. & Thibault, N., 2010: The cyclic Rørdal Member – a new lithostratigraphic unit of chronostratigraphic and palaeo-climatic importance in the upper Maastrichtian of Denmark. Bulletin of the Geological Society of Denmark, v. 58, 89–98.
- Surlyk, F., Rasmussen, S.L., Bousaha, M., Schiøler, P., Schovsbo, N.H., Sheldon, E. Stem merik, L. & Thibault, N., 2013: Upper Campanian–Maastrichtian holostratigraphy of the eastern Danish Basin. Cretaceous Research 46, 232–256.
- Thibault, N., Anderskouv, K., Bjerager, M., Boldreel, L.O., Jelby, M.E., Stemmerik, L. & Sur lyk, F., 2015: Upper Campanian–Maastrichtian chronostratigraphy of the Skælskør-1 core, Denmark: correlation at the basinal and global scale and implications for changes in sea-surface temperatures. Lethaia, v. 48, 549–560.
- Thomsen, E., 1995: Kalk og Kridt i den Danske Undergrund. Aarhus Geokompendier Vol.1. 31-68.
- Tran, E.L., Teutsch, N., Klein-BenDavid, O., Kersting, A.B., Zavrin, M., Weisbrod, M., 2019: Radionuclide transport in brackish water through chalk fractures. Water Research, Volume 163, 15 October 2019, Epub 114886.
- Vejbæk, O.V. & Britze, P., 1994: Geological map of Denmark, 1:750000. Top pre-Zechschtein (two-way traveltime and depth), Geological Survey of Denmark. Map series no. 45.

9.1 Literature from the project on deep geological disposal

Title of the report series:

Studies of geological properties and conditions for deep disposal of radioactive waste, Denmark

- Requirements and criteria for initial evaluation of geological properties and conditions (Midtgaard, H.H., Hjelm, L., Jakobsen, R., Karan, S., Kjøller, C., Nilsson, B. & Poulsen, M.L.K.), https://www.geus.dk/natur-og-klima/land/deponering-af-radioaktivt-affald, 51 pp.
- Geological setting and structural framework of Danish onshore areas (Gravesen, P., Pedersen, S. A. S. & Midtgaard, H. H.), https://www.geus.dk/natur-ogklima/land/deponering-af-radioaktivt-affald, 72 pp.
- Upper Cretaceous chalk and Paleocene limestone distribution and properties (Jakobsen, P.R., Frykman, P. & Jakobsen, R.), https://www.geus.dk/natur-ogklima/land/deponering-af-radioaktivt-affald, 76 pp.
- 4. Jurassic and Lower Cretaceous claystone distribution, sedimentology, and properties (Pedersen, G. K, Lauridsen, B., Sheldon, E. & Midtgaard, H. H.), https://www.geus.dk/natur-og-klima/land/deponering-af-radioaktivt-affald, 106 pp.

- 5. Precambrian crystalline basement distribution and properties (Gravesen, P., Jakobsen, P. R., Nilsson, B., Pedersen, S.A.S. & Midtgaard, H. H.), https://www.geus.dk/natur-og-klima/land/deponering-af-radioaktivt-affald,_97 pp.
- 6. Subsurface distribution of Jurassic and Cretaceous fine-grained formations based on seismic mapping of (Mathiesen, A., Midtgaard, H. H. & Hjelm, L.), https://www.geus.dk/natur-og-klima/land/deponering-af-radioaktivt-affald, 48 pp
- Evaluation of long-term stability related to glaciations, climate and sea level, groundwater, and earthquakes (Sandersen, P., Binderup, M., Larsen, T. & Nilsson, B.), https://www.geus.dk/natur-og-klima/land/deponering-af-radioaktivt-affald, 112 pp.
- 8. Conceptual 1D modeling of nuclides transport in low permeable formations (Kazmierczak, J., Karan, S. & Jakobsen, R.), https://www.geus.dk/natur-og-klima/land/deponering-af-radioaktivt-affald, 99 pp.
- Karakterisering og evaluering af geologiske egenskaber og forhold i 500 meters dybde (Midtgaard, H.H., Hjelm, L., Jakobsen, R., Karan, S., Kjøller, C., Nilsson, B. & Poulsen, M.L.K.), https://www.geus.dk/natur-og-klima/land/deponering-af-radioaktivt-affald, 186 pp.
- (Translation of report no. 9): Characterization and evaluation of geological properties and conditions at 500 meters depth (Midtgaard, H.H., Hjelm, L., Jakobsen, R., Karan, S., Kjøller, C., Nilsson, B. & Poulsen, M.L.K.), https://www.geus.dk/natur-ogklima/land/deponering-af-radioaktivt-affald, in prep.

9.2 Literature from previous projects on the Danish radioactive waste

Low- and intermediate level radioactive waste from Risø, Denmark. Location studies for potential disposal areas. Published in GEUS Report Series.

- Report No. 1. Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Pedersen, S.A.S. & Binderup, M., 2010: Data, maps, models and methods used for selection of potential areas. GEUS Report no. 2010/122, 47 pages.
- Report No. 2. Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Pedersen, S.A.S. & Binderup, M., 2010: Characterization of low permeable and fractured sediments and rocks in Denmark. GEUS Report no. 2010/123, 78 pages.
- Report No. 3. Pedersen, S.A.S. & Gravesen, P., 2010: Geological setting and tectonic framework in Denmark. GEUS Report no. 2010/124, 51 pages.
- Report No. 4. Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Pedersen, S.A.S. & Binderup, M., 2011: Characterization and description of areas. Bornholm. GEUS Report no. 2011/44, 85 pages.
- Report No. 5. Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Pedersen, S.A.S. & Binderup, M., 2011: Characterization and description of areas. Falster and Lolland. GEUS Report no, 2011/45, 76 pages.
- Report No. 6. Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Pedersen, S.A.S. & Binderup, M., 2011: Characterization and description of areas. Sjælland. GEUS Report no. 2011/46, 85 pages.
- Report No. 7. Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Pedersen, S.A.S. & Binderup, M., 2011: Characterization and description of areas. Langeland, Tåsinge and Fyn. GEUS Report no. 2011/47, 119 pages.
- Report No. 8. Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Pedersen, S.A.S. & Binderup, M., 2011: Characterization and description of Areas. Eastern Jylland. GEUS Report no. 2011/ 48, 117 pages.
- Report No. 9. Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Pedersen, S.A.S. & Binderup, M., 2011: Characterization and description of areas. Limfjorden. GEUS Report 2011/49, 138 pages.
- Report No. 10. Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Pedersen, S.A.S. & Binderup, M., 2011: Characterization and description of areas. Nordjylland. GEUS Report 2011/50, 51 pages.
- Report No. 11. Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Pedersen, S.A.S. & Binderup, M., 2011: Dansk og engelsk resume. Danish and English resume. GEUS Report no. 2011/51, 64 pages.

Low- and intermediate level radioactive waste from Risø, Denmark. Studies of the six sites (Omegnsstudier). Published in GEUS Report Series.

- Rapport nr. 1. Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Binderup, M. Larsen, T. & Pedersen, S.A.S., 2012: Lavog mellem radioaktivt affald fra Risø, Danmark. Omegnsstudier. Rapport nr. 1. Område Østermarie-Paradisbakkerne, Bornholms Regionskommune, GEUS Rapport 2012/123, 100 pages.
- Rapport nr. 2. Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Binderup, M. Larsen, T. & Pedersen, S.A.S., 2012: Lavog mellem radioaktivt affald fra Risø, Danmark. Omegnsstudier. Rapport nr. 2. Område Rødbyhavn, Lolland Kommune, GEUS Rapport 2012/124, 55 pages.
- Rapport nr. 3. Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Binderup, M. Larsen, T. & Pedersen, S.A.S., 2012: Lavog mellem radioaktivt affald fra Risø, Danmark. Omegnsstudier. Rapport nr. 3. Område Kertinge Mark, Kerteminde Kommune, GEUS Rapport 2012/125, 68 pages.
- Rapport nr. 4. Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Binderup, M. Larsen, T. & Pedersen, S.A.S., 2012: Lavog mellem radioaktivt affald fra Risø, Danmark. Omegnsstudier. Rapport nr. 4. Område Hvidbjerg, Thyholm, Struer Kommune, GEUS Rapport 2012/126, 61 pages.
- Rapport nr. 5. Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Binderup, M. Larsen, T. & Pedersen, S.A.S., 2012: Lavog mellem radioaktivt affald fra Risø, Danmark. Omegnsstudier. Rapport nr. 5. Område Thise, Skive Kommune, GEUS Rapport 2012/127, 83 pages.
- Rapport nr. 6. Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Binderup, M. Larsen, T. & Pedersen, S.A.S., 2012: Lavog mellem radioaktivt affald fra Risø, Danmark. Omegnsstudier. Rapport nr. 6. Område Skive vest, Skive Kommune, GEUS Rapport 2012/128, 91 pages.

Low- and intermediate level radioactive waste from Risø, Denmark. Studies of interim storage (Mellemlagerstudier).

- DD & GEUS, 2016: Supplerende mellemlagerstudier-sammenfatning. Udarbejdet af Dansk Dekommissionering og de Nationale Geologiske Undersøgelser for Danmark og Grønland for en tværministeriel arbejdsgruppe under Uddannelses- og Forskningsministeriet, 30 pages.
- GEUS og DD, 2015: BESLUTNINGSGRUNDLAG for et dansk mellemlager for lav- og mellemaktivt affald. Udarbejdet af GEUS og DD for en Tværministeriel arbejdsgruppe under Ministeriet for Sundhed og Forebyggelse, februar 2015, 128 pages.
- Gravesen, P., Binderup, M., Nilsson, B. & Pedersen, S.A.S., 2016: Kriterier og proces for lokalisering af et mellemlager for det lav – og mellemaktive affald fra Risø. De Nationale Geologiske Undersøgelser for Danmark og Grønland (GEUS), 99 pages.

Low- and intermediate level radioactive waste from Risø, Denmark. Deep final repository in 500 m´s depth

- Danish Parliament, 2018: Parliamentary resolution B90. Proposal for parliamentary resolution on a long-term solution for Denmark's radioactive waste, 11 pages
- Gravesen, P., 2016: De geologiske forhold i ca. 500 m´s dybde. Foreløbig redegørelse udarbejdet på eksisterende data. GEUS-NOTAT nr. 05-VA-16-08. Til: Uddannelsesog Forskningsministeriet V/ Merete Storr-Hansen og Ole Kastbjerg Nielsen, 24 pages.
- Uddannelses- og forskningsministeren, 2018: Betænkning over Forslag til folketingsbeslutning om en langsigtet løsning for Danmarks radioaktive affald. Beslutningsforslag B90, 11 pages.

9.3 Other publications

- Dansk Dekommisionering (DD), 2011: Pre-feasibility study for final disposal of radioactive waste. Disposal concepts. Main Report. Prepared by Cowi A/S for DD, 404 pages.
- Dansk Dekommissionering (DD), De Nationale Geologiske Undersøgelser for Danmark og Grønland (GEUS) & Sundhedsstyrelsen, Statens Institut for strålebeskyttelse (SIS), 2011: Forstudier til slutdepot for lav – og mellemaktivt affald – sammendrag indeholdende hovedkonklusionerne og anbefalinger fra tre parallelle studier. Rapport til den tværministerielle arbejdsgruppe vedr. udarbejdelse af beslutningsgrundlag med henblik på etablering af et dansk slutdepot for lav – og mellemaktivt affald, 44 pages.
- Gravesen, P. & Jakobsen, P.R., 2010: Radon content in Danish till deposits: relationship with redox condition and age. Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland Bulletin 20, 39-42.
- Gravesen, P., Ulbak, K. & Jakobsen, P.R., 2010: Radon og radioaktivitet i danske bjergarter og sedimenter. GeoViden. Geologi og geografi nr. 4, 2-17.
- Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Binderup, M. & Pedersen, S.A.S, 2011a: Forstudier: regional kortlægning. Kriterier og metoder til udvælgelse af 6 områder ud af 22 områder, som kan anvendes til et potentielt slutdepot for Risø's lav- og mellemaktive radioaktive affald. Notat til den Tværministerielle arbejdsgruppe under Indenrigs og Sundhedsministeriet. GEUS-NOTAT nr. 08-EN2011-28, 12 pages.
- Gravesen, P., Binderup, M., Nilsson, B. & Petersen, S.A.S, 2011b: Geological Characterisation of potential disposal areas for radioactive waste from Risø, Denmark. Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland Bulletin 23, 21-24.
- Gravesen, P., Binderup, M., Nilsson, B., Pedersen, S.A.S., Thomsen, H.S., Sørensen, A., Nielsen, O.K., Hannesson, H., Breddam, K. & Ulbak, K., 2011c: Slutdepot for Risø's radioaktive affald. Geoviden, geologi og geografi nr.2, 19 pages.
- Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Binderup, M. & Pedersen, S.A.S., 2012: Risøområdet: Geologi og grundvand vurderet i forbindelse med slutdepotprojektet. Udarbejdet til Ministeriet for Sundhed og Forebyggelse. GEUS-NOTAT nr.: 05-VA-12-06. 18 pages.
- Gravesen, P., 2012: De geologiske forhold ved Risø. Notat til Den Tværministerielle Arbejdsgruppe angående deponering af atomaffald fra Risø under Ministeriet for Sundhed og Forebyggelse. GEUS NOTAT nr. 05-VA-12-03, 14 pages.

- Gravesen, P. & Nilsson, B., 2013: Borehulslogging i 8 boringer i Østermarie-Paradisbakkerne området udført i forbindelse med undersøgelse af mulighederne for lokalisering af et slutdepot for radioaktivt affald fra Risø (Omegnsstudier). Notat til Bornholm Regionskommune. GEUS-NOTAT nr.: 05-VA-13-02, 27 pages.
- Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Binderup, M., Larsen, T.B., & Pedersen, S.A.S., 2013: Geology, seismic activity and groundwater conditions at six potential disposal sites for radioactive waste from Risø, Denmark. Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland Bulletin 28, 13-16.
- Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Rasmussen, P. & Pedersen, S.A.S.,2014: Borehole logs from the Precambrian basement on Bornholm, eastern Denmark: geology and groundwater flow. Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland Bulletin 31, 15-18.
- Gravesen, P., Nilsson, B., Petersen, S.A.S. & Binderup, M. 2015: Final repository for Denmarks's low- and intermediate level radioactive waste. Abstract and Poster. Clays in Natural and Engineered Barriers for Radioactive Waste Confinement. 6th International Clay Conference, Brussels March 23-26, 2015, p. 299.
- Gravesen, P., Jakobsen, R. & Nilsson, B., 2015: Relationship between groundwater chemistry and the Precambrian basement rocks on eastern Bornholm, Denmark. Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland Bulletin 33, 33-36.
- Gravesen, P. & Jakobsen, P. R., 2016: Pre-Quaternary rocks and sediments with a high level of radioactivity in Denmark. Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland Bulletin 35, 31-34.
- Gravesen, P., Pedersen, S.A.S, Nilsson, B. & Binderup, M., 2016, 2017: An assessment of Palaeogene and Neogene clay deposits in Denmark as possible host rocks for final disposal of low-and intermediate-level radioactive waste. I: Norris, S., Bruno, J. Van Geet, E. & Verhoef, E. (eds.): Radioactive Waste Confinement: Clays in Natural and Engineered Barriers, Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 443, 29-38, www. sp.lyellcollection. org.
- Indenrigs- og Sundhedsministeriet, 2005: Slutdepot for radioaktivt affald i Danmark. Hvorfor? Hvordan? Hvor?. Juni 2005, 18 pp.
- Indenrigs- og Sundhedsministeriet, 2007: Beslutningsgrundlag for et dansk slutdepot for lav – og mellemaktivt affald. Udarbejdet af en arbejdsgruppe under Indenrigs – og Sundhedsministeriet, april 2007, 47 pp.
- Ministeren for Sundhed og Forebyggelse, 2009: Redegørelse om Beslutningsgrundlag for et dansk slutdepot for lav- og mellemaktivt affald. Præsenteret for Folketinget. Januar 2009, 13 pages.
- Nilsson, B., Gravesen, P., Pedersen, S.A.S. & Binderup, M., 2012: Final repository for Denmark's low- and intermediate level radioactive waste. AGU Fall Meeting 3-7 December 2012 San Francisco, USA, (Poster).
- Nilsson B., Gravesen, P., Pedersen S.A.S. & Binderup, M., 2017: Investigations of clay deposits as barrier for a final repository for Denmark's low- and intermediate level radioactive waste. Abstract 7th the International Conference on Clays in Natural and Engineered Barriers fir Radioactive Waste Confinement. + Poster Davos, Switzerland, Sept. 24.-27, 2017.
- Sundhedsstyrelsen, Statens Institut for Strålebeskyttelse (SIS), 2011: Radiation doses from transport of radioactive waste to a future repository in Denmark A model study, 50 pages.

Hjemmesider

www.dd.dk www.dmi.dk www.geus.dk www.ufm.dk